®

Allan International Holdings Limited
QR D W A )

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OR RS R RO 2 A FR A A )
(Stock Code BEAHREE : 684)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 4 #



Contents B &%

PAGE(S)
=N
CORPORATE INFORMATION NGIE- ¥ 2-3
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS B E 4
LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS BURR 3R pR 1 5-10
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EERARERBAER 11-15
DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEend 16-29
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT TEERME 30-41
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BB AR E 42-48
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND meBEn kEMEEKE R
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 49
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION fra Bk & 50-51
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY mERmEEX 52
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS S A= 53-54
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS mEMBHREEMT 55-159

FINANCIAL SUMMARY B2 160



Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Managing Director)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon
Professor Lo Chung Mau

Company Secretary

Ms. Wong Lai Yung

Qualified Accountant

Ms. Wong Lai Yung

Audit Committee
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan*®

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon
Professor Lo Chung Mau

Remuneration Committee
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon*

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Auditor

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

* Chairman of the relevant Board Committees

NAEE R

Exg

BITES
REBY XL (X/E)

SR IR L (BEFRALTE)
SREBHLZL

SR L

BAFHUTESE
HEWL L
RIERH KL
EEXHE

REAWE

2l
]}

B

8 47+
=g
EEAX L

EREES

B2 L
RIERLE
EEXHE

FMEES
BRI S

SREBHZL
BELL

BB A

=B

B¢

op
i

B¢
o

BEHZEREHLE



Corporate Information

Legal Advisers on Bermuda Law

Conyers, Dill and Pearman

29th Floor One Exchange Square
8 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Share Registrars and Transfer Office

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrars and
Transfer Office

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Registered Office

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

Head Office and Principal Place of
Business

Flat B, 23/F., Chaiwan Industrial Centre
20 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan

Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2103 7288

Fax: (852) 2214 9357

Website: www.allan.com.hk

Stock Code

684

NAEE R

BREERZEEER

YRl e
&5

IR

R4 B 5857

R 5 E5F— E21E

FEERRT

EELBESRITARAR
BAERITAERAF

ROBFERLRE

Estera Management (Bermuda) Limited
Victoria Place, 5th Floor

31 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 10

Bermuda

ROBEETREEEITRE

BERZEFRAF
BE

AT

25 KEHE1835,
B4

AR EE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda
RMEERTELEEME
5B

SEE N R AT 205%

SeBEm LT ¥ KE23EBE
&% © (852) 2103 7288

B H : (852) 2214 9357
A1k - www.allan.com.hk

IR AR X 3R

684



Financial Highlights

MEBERE

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—BHLFE

2021 2020 Change
—EB-—F —EFF BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 %
FET FEIT
Revenue EER 909,466 982,835 ~7.5%
Gross Profit E 7 153,063 143,802 6.4%
Gross Profit% ESYURS 16.8% 14.6%
Improve
Net Profit (Loss) FAE A (B 1R) 46,402 (18,164) 355.5%
Net Profit (Loss)% AN & (R K) 51% (1.8%)
HK cents HK cents %
Al BN
Improve
Earnings (Loss) per share BRER(EE) 13.8 (5.4) 355.6%
Dividend Per Share — Interim &R E — HHj 2 2
Dividend Per Share — Final BREE — RH 8 7
Dividend Per Share — Special &M E — &3 15 0
Dividend Per Share — Total GRS — #E 25 9 177.8%
As at 31 March
R=A=+—A”
2021 2020 Change
—EB-—F —EFF 2E
Notes Days Days
B it x X
Inventory Turnover Days GFEREXE *1 36 29 7
Trade Receivables Turnover Days [& Uk Z 5 B 20 & 8 X 1 2 97 50 47
Trade Payables Turnover Days & & 5 BR 30 & 88 X 2k 3 71 40 31
Gearing Ratio EEBELE 4 2.2% 2.7% -0.5
Return on Equity [i% B8 4 2= 0] 3 K 5 3.9% -1.6% 5.5
1. Inventory turnover days is equal to the average of the opening and 7. FERABXHEEERHVIERBAREEFIH
closing inventory divided by the cost of sales and multiplied by the BRAEEXNABRAZFRE
number of days for the year
*2. Trade receivables turnover days is equal to trade receivables divided 2 RERREZIEREAEBERBIEENESHEWER
by the revenue and multiplied by the number of days for the year MBAEEBEHEURFRE
*3.  Trade Payable turnover days is equal to trade payables divided by B ENEBEIERBAEXRYEERENEZER
the cost of sales and multiplied by the number of days for the year BRUEEXN AT RAZFRE
4. Gearing ratio is equal to the total borrowings divided by the equity 4, BEABHEDNREBREELTERUARRER
5, Return on Equity is equal to the net profit (loss) after tax for the year 6. BREEZLDREASAAFELAR (BB R

divided by the average of opening and closing equity

VA H3 7] B HA R B SR 21 T 9 3R



Letter to Shareholders

Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s sales turnover
decreased by 7% to HK$909.5 million (2020: HK$982.8 million)
and the consolidated net profit was HK$46.4 million (2020: loss
HK$18.2 million). Basic earnings per share of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 was HK13.8 cents (2020: loss HK5.4
cents). The Board of Directors has resolved to recommend at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting the payment of a final dividend
of HK8 cents (2020: HK7 cents) and a special dividend of HK15
cents (2020: nil) per share for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Together with the interim dividend of HK2 cents per share paid in
January this year, the total dividend for the year ended 31 March
2021 will be HK25 cents per share (2020: HK9 cents).

Business Review

The Group is engaged in design, manufacturing and trading of a
wide range of household electrical appliances.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the overall global situation
and business environment continued to be difficult and volatile.
COVID-19 spread to the whole world affecting all walks of life.
Lockdowns, stay home, work from home and social distancing
became the “new normal”. The easing of such measures from
time to time and subsequent resurgence of COVID-19 seemed
to be going hand in hand. The Group put employee health and
safety being paramount during these difficult times. Strict safety
precautions and measures were implemented at our workplace in
Hong Kong and mainland China.

During the first quarter of the year under review, the operation
of our factories was severely affected by the COVID-19 outbreak.
Lockdowns and travel restrictions at some cities in mainland China
caused disruption in material supply and delays in employees
returning to work. On the demand side, the lockdowns at European
and US markets due to the COVID-19 pandemic had resulted in
order cancellations and deferrals in shipment of products.
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Letter to Shareholders

Business Review (continued)

While the lockdowns in mainland China eased, our factory operation
gradually resumed to levels before the pandemic. As the world
adapted to the “new-normal” with stay home, work from home and
limited opening hours of restaurants and eating outlets due to social
distancing policies, home cooking increased leading to increase in
usage of electrical kitchen appliances.

During the year under review, sales turnover decreased by 7% to
HK$909.5 million. Sales turnover to Europe decreased by 7% to
HK$428.7 million representing 47% of the Group’s sales turnover.
Sales turnover to America increased by 8% to HK$336.2 million
representing 37% of the Group’s sales turnover. Sales turnover to
Asia decreased by 35% to HK$111.1 million representing 12% of the
Group’s sales turnover. Sales turnover to other markets decreased
by 19% to HK$33.5 million representing 4% of the Group’s sales
turnover.

Gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 improved to
HK$153.1 million. The improvement in gross profit margin was
mainly due to change in customer mix and product mix, relatively
stable raw material costs and tight cost control measures.

The Group continued to apply stringent control on all costs and
expenses. Selling and distribution expenses increased by 2% to
HK$18.8 million. As a percentage to sales turnover, selling and
distribution expenses increased from 1.9% to 2.1% compared to
last year. Administrative expenses decreased by 7% to HK$96.4
million. As a percentage to sales turnover, administrative expenses
maintained at 10.6% for both years.

During the year, the Group received COVID-19 subsidies
of approximately HK$4.5 million through the Employment
Support Scheme of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administration Region. The entire amount has been paid out as
salaries to our employees in Hong Kong.
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Letter to Shareholders

Business Review (continued)

The site at Hui Nam Hi-Tech Industrial Park including the
three factory blocks was reclassified as investment properties
at 1 April 2019. At 31 March 2021, this investment property
was revaluated at RMB198,100,000 (HK$233,758,000) (2020:
RMB200,500,000 (HK$218,545,000)) resulting in a decrease in fair
value of HK$2,832,000 and a translation gain of HK$18,045,000.
One factory block has been leased out since April 2019 to an
independent third party. The remaining two factory blocks were
leased out at December 2020 for a term of five years to another
independent third party.

The investment property located in Wanchai, Hong Kong was
revaluated at HK$275 million at 31 March 2021 (2020: HK$275
million).

Net profit for the year was HK$46.4 million (2020: loss HK$18.2
million). Net profit margin improved from —1.8% to 5.1% compared
to last year. If the change in fair value of investment properties for
both years was segregated, the net profit for operations for the year
ended 31 March 2021 would be HK$49.2 million as compared to
HK$34.1 million for the previous year.

Prospects

Going forward, it is extremely difficult to predict the business
outlook. While a number of vaccines have been rolled out to combat
the COVID-19, the new variants pose new threats and danger to the
whole world. Apart from the pandemic, we are facing material cost
increase and a global shortage in supply of electronic components.
In recent months, the shortage in electricity supply, tight supply
for containers and congestions at container ports in mainland
China has affected the production and shipping of goods to our
customers. We have already revamped our electric generators in
our factories to ensure our production would not be disturbed. We
are also working with our customers to change the boarding of
goods from mainland China to Hong Kong. All these unfavorable
factors would inevitably add on to our costs. As such we expect
the profit margin would have a downturn in the current financial
year.
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Letter to Shareholders

Prospects (continued)

During this difficult and challenging period, we will stay vigilant and
versatile in our manufacturing capacity and resources planning in
response to fluctuations in market demand. We would strive to
stay slim with stringent cost and expense control, and productivity
efficiency improvements. Meanwhile, persistence in quality products
and engineering and R&D capabilities would continue to be our
focus. We will seek growth opportunities through new customers
and new product categories as well as the mainland China
market and online sales channels. We will also look for business
opportunities to create higher value to our shareholders.

With our prudent and pragmatic business approach, financial
strength and commitment to excel, we will strive on and tread
cautiously to ride through the current and coming difficulties and
challenges.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had total assets of HK$1,583.9
million (2020: HK$1,474.8 million) which was financed by current
liabilities of HK$320.3 million (2020: HK$245.6 million), long-term
liabilities and taxation of HK$58.6 million (2020: HK$62.8 million)
and shareholders’ equity of HK$1,205.0 million (2020: HK$1,166.4
million).

The Group continued to maintain a strong balance sheet and a
healthy liquidity position. As at 31 March 2021, the Group held
HK$616.3 million (2020: HK$656.8 million) in cash and bank
deposits. They were mainly placed in Renminbi and US dollar
short term deposits, except for temporary balances held in other
currencies as required pending specific payments. For the year
ended 31 March 2021, the Group generated net cash outflow
from operating activities of HK$16.7 million (2020: inflow HK$117.9
million). As at the same date, total borrowings were HK$26.0
million (2020: HK$31.2 million) and the gearing ratio (ratio of total
borrowings to shareholders’ equity) was 2.2% (2020: 2.7%).
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Letter to Shareholders

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continueq)

We continue to apply stringent control over the working capital
cycle. The inventory balance as at 31 March 2021 increased from
HK$56.3 million to HK$93.9 million. Inventory turnover increased
from 29 days to 36 days compared to last year. The reason
for the increase in inventory level was two-fold. The inventory
level at 31 March 2020 was low due to the COVID-19 lockdown
and the inventory level at 31 March 2021 was increased from
purchasing ahead due to shortage of material especially electronic
components. The trade receivables balance as at 31 March
2021 increased from HK$133.7 million to HK$240.6 million. Trade
receivables turnover increased from 50 days to 97 days compared
to last year. The trade payables balance as at 31 March 2021
increased from HK$92.0 million to HK$147.7 million. Trade payables
turnover increased from 40 days to 71 days compared to last year.

Funding for day-to-day operational working capital and capital
expenditures are to be serviced by internal cash flow and
available banking facilities. For the year ended 31 March 2021,
the group invested HK$6.4 million (2020: HK$11.7 million) in
plant and machinery, moulds and tools, equipment, computer
systems and other tangible assets for expansion and upgrade
to our manufacturing facilities. The Group’s capital expenditures
were funded by internal resources and bank loans. With a healthy
financial position and available banking facilities, the Group is
able to provide sufficient financial resources for our current
commitments, working capital requirements, further expansions
of the Group’s business operations and future investment
opportunities, as and when required.

The majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities and business
transactions were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars,
Renminbis. Currently the Group does not implement hedging
activity to hedge against foreign currency exposure. However, we
will closely monitor foreign currency exposure and consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Letter to Shareholders

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed approximately 2,280
employees (2020: 2,500). The majority of our employees work
in the PRC. The Group remunerated our employees based on
their performances, experiences and prevailing market rates while
performance bonuses are granted on a discretionary basis. Share
options may also be granted to employees based on individual
performance and attainment of certain set targets.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere appreciation to our employees, shareholders
and business associates for their continual contribution and support
throughout the year.

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2021
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, aged 63, was appointed as Chairman
of the Group on 17 March 2017 and joined the Group in 1984. She
obtained a degree in Bachelor of Science from Kingston University
London, England. She is responsible for formulating the Group’s
overall strategic planning and development.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie is the sister of Mr. Cheung Shu Wan,
the Managing Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive Director and
Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost Innovation.

Ms. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company. She is
also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan Investment
Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the Company. As
at 31 March 2021,
Company pursuant to section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”), Ms. Cheung had personal interest in 600,000
shares and The Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which

according to the register maintained by the

include Ms. Cheung and other family members other than spouse)
directly and indirectly had interest in 156,349,960 shares. Details
of her interests are set out in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” of this report.

Cheung Shu Wan, aged 60, is the Managing Director of the Group
and joined the Group in 1983. He obtained a degree in Bachelor of
Science from the University of London, England. He is responsible
for the sales & marketing functions and the overall manufacturing
operations of the Group. He also assists the Chairman in corporate
strategic planning and development.

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan is the brother of Ms. Cheung Lai Chun,
Maggie, the Chairman, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive
Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, Wiliam, an Executive Director and
Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost Innovation.
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors (continueq)

Mr. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company. He is
also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan Investment
Company Limited, controlling shareholders of the Company. As
at 31 March 2021, according to the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, Mr. Cheung had
personal interest in 49,695,335 shares and The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Cheung and other
family members other than spouse) directly and indirectly had
interest in 156,349,960 shares. Details of his interests are set out in
the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report.

Cheung Lai See, Sophie, aged 58, is an Executive Director of the
Group and joined the Group in 1995. She obtained a degree in
Bachelor of Science from the University of London, England and a
master degree in Business Management from the City University,
England. She is responsible for the financial and administration
functions of the Group.

Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie is the sister of Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the Managing
Director, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, Wiliam, an Executive Director and
Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost Innovation.

Ms. Cheung is a Director of all subsidiaries of the Company. She is
also a Director of Unison Associates Limited and Allan Investment
Company Limited,
As at 31 March 2021, according to the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, Ms. Cheung

controlling shareholders of the Company.

had personal interest in 1,258,000 shares and The Cheung Lun
Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Ms. Cheung and
other family members other than spouse) directly and indirectly
had interest in 156,349,960 shares of the Company. Details of
her interests are set out in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” of this report.
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Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors (continueq)

Cheung Shu Sang, William, aged 56, is an Executive Director and
joined the Group in 1994. He holds a BSc degree in Computing
Science and a MSc degree in Management Science, both at
Imperial College London. He also holds a PhD degree in Automation
from the University of Bristol, and is a member of The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers. He is in charge of engineering, research
and development functions, and also management of intellectual
property/patent application.

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William is the brother of Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the Managing
Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive Director and
Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, the Director of Cost Innovation.

Dr. Cheung is a Director of Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited
and Total Profits Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company.
He is also a director of Allan Investment Co. Ltd., a controlling
shareholder of the Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). As
at 31 March 2021, according to the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, Dr. Cheung has
personal interest in 900,000 shares and The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (the beneficiaries of which include Dr. Cheung and other family
members other than spouse) directly and indirectly has interest
in 156,349,960 shares. Details of his interests are set out in the
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Choy Wai
Independent Non-Executive Director on 29 August 2019. She

Sheun, Susan, aged 57, was appointed as an
obtained her bachelor’'s degree of accounting and financial analysis
from University of Newcastle Upon Tyne (UK) in 1985 and a
postgraduate diploma from University of New England (Australia)
in 1988. She is qualified as a member of Hong Kong Institute of
CPAs.

Lai Ah Ming, Leon, aged 64, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director in December 1995. He is a solicitor
majoring in commercial and property works.
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Lo Chung Mau, aged 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director in November 1997. Professor Lo is a surgeon
and is currently Hospital Chief Executive of the University of Hong
Kong-Shenzhen Hospital, and the Chin Lan Hong Professor and
Chair of Hepatobiliary and Pancreatic Surgery of the University of
Hong Kong.

Senior Management

Cheung Shu Chun, Simon, aged 61, is the Director of Cost
Innovation and joined the Group in 1983. He obtained a degree in
Bachelor of Science from the University of Wales, England. He is
responsible for the purchasing and sourcing functions of the Group.

Mr. Cheung Shu Chun, Simon is the brother of Ms. Cheung Lai
Chun, Maggie, the Chairman, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, the Managing
Director, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive Director and
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, an Executive Director.

Mr. Cheung is a director of Allan Electric Mfg. Limited, Allan
International Limited, Allan Plastic Mfg. Limited, Allan Trading (HK)
Company Limited, Artreal Manufactory Limited, Ever Sources
Investment Limited, Ngai Shing (Far East) Plastic & Metalwares
Factory Ltd., Warran Electric Manufacturing Limited, all being
subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a director of Allan
Investment Co. Ltd., a controlling shareholder of the Company (as
defined in the Listing Rules). Mr. Cheung is one of the beneficiaries
of The Cheung Lun Family Trust (the beneficiaries of which include
Mr. Cheung and other family members other than spouse) which
indirectly has interest in 156,349,960 shares of the Company.

Chung Chi Yin, aged 58, is the Director of Engineering and joined
the Group in 1990. He obtained a degree in Bachelor of Science
in Product Design and Technology from The Open University of
Hong Kong. He is responsible for the product development of the
Group.
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Directors and Senior Management

Senior Management (continued)

Kwok Ka Lee, Carrie, aged 53, is the Director of Manufacturing
and joined the Group in 1990. She obtained a degree in Bachelor
of Business (Transport and Logistics Management) from Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology. She is responsible for the
manufacturing management and control function of the Group.

Li Wai Ho, aged 57,
and joined the Group in 2012. He obtained a master degree

is the Director of Sales and Marketing

in management from Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a
bachelor degree in engineering from Manchester University in
United Kingdom. He has over 17 years of experience in various
functions in multinational corporation. He is responsible for sales
and marketing function of the Group.

Li Wing Kong, aged 61, is the Director of Quality Assurance
and joined the Group in 2013. He obtained a Higher Diploma
of Electrical Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic. He is
responsible for the Quality Assurance function of the Group.
Tsang Wing Tong, Michelle, aged 54, is the Director of
Manufacturing and joined the Group in 1987. She is responsible for
the manufacturing management and control function of the Group.

Wong Lai Yung, aged 59, is the Company Secretary and Finance
and Account Manager of the Group and joined the Group in 2006.
She holds a master degree in Business Administration and a master
degree in Corporate Governance from The Open University of Hong
Kong. She also obtained her master degree in Economics from
Jinan University, PRC. Ms. Wong is currently a fellow member of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Certified Tax
Adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. She is responsible
for the Company’s secretarial duties and financial and accounting
aspects of the Group.

Wong Mei Lin, aged 58,
Personnel and joined the Group in 2000. She obtained a Higher

is the Director of Administration and

Certificate in Company Secretaryship and Administration from Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. She is responsible for the human
resources and administration management of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides
corporate management services. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, including an
analysis using financial key performance indicators, the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, important events
affecting the Group and an indication of likely future development
of the Group’s business can be found in “Financial Highlights” set
out on page 4, “Letter to Shareholders” set out on Pages 5 to
10 and “Financial Risk Management objectives and policies” (Note
27b) set out on pages 134 to 148 of this annual report.

Relationship with Stakeholders

The success of the Group depends on the support from key
stakeholders which comprise customers, suppliers, employees and
shareholders.

Customers

The Group’s major customers are companies selling household
electrical appliances under well-known brand names. The Group
maintains long-term and good relationship with its customers. The
Group strives to provide excellent service and quality products to
our customers.

Suppliers

Supply chain is a critical aspect of our operations. The Group
maintains long-term and good relationship with its suppliers. The
Group selects its suppliers based on assessment criteria including,
among others, cost, quality, experience, capability, capacity,
sustainability and ethical behavior. The Group requires all suppliers
to comply with relevant manufacturing and safety standards. The
Group has communicated to all the suppliers of the Group’s strict
compliance to anti-bribery which is also required to be observed
by all suppliers.
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Directors’ Report

Relationship with Stakeholders (continued)

Employees

Employees are one of the most valuable assets of the Group.
The Group provides competitive remuneration package together
with safe and harmonious workplace. In-house and external
trainings and seminars are provided to employee for their business
and personal development. Recreational activities are organized
periodically and employees are encouraged to participate in
volunteer work. The Group has been nominated and awarded

Caring Company since 2007.

Shareholders

The Group endeavors to maximize the return to its shareholders.
The Group strives to achieve profit growth and stable dividend
payouts taking into account the business development needs and
financial health of the Group.

Environmental Policies

The Group recognizes the importance of achieving environmental
sustainability. The Group is committed to comply with the relevant
environmental standards and policies related to its business
operations in the PRC and Hong Kong. The manufacturing sites in
the PRC and our head office in Hong Kong are certified with the
ISO 14001:2004 standard for environmental management system.
The Group incorporates the Reduce, Reuse and Recycle principle
and implements environmental-friendly measures in operations and
workplaces to achieve efficient use of resources, waste reduction
and energy saving.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide contained in Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three
months from the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

For the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group that has a significant impact on the business and operations
of the Group.
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

During the year, none of the Directors was interested in any
business which competed or was likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
the Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements on pages 49 to 51.

An interim dividend of HK2 cents per ordinary share amounting to
HK$6,709,000 in aggregate was paid to the ordinary shareholders
during the year. The directors now recommend the payment of
a final dividend of HK8 cents per ordinary share and a special
dividend of HK15 cents per ordinary share in respect of the current
year to the ordinary shareholders on the register of members on
27 August 2021, amounting to HK$77,150,000 in aggregate.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
largest suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases BEE

- the largest supplier — BARER

- five largest suppliers combined — ERHEEA
Sales fHE AR

- the largest customer - EANEE

- five largest customers combined — ERERAER

At no time during the year did a director, an associate of a director
or a shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) has
an interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.
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Directors’ Report

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 160 of the annual
report.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus account of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(@ it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2021 comprised the
retained profit of HK$340,608,000 (2020: HK$329,107,000).
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REWR

KRB —F=ZA=+t—8 URFEFIER
BZEEBYEWT:

Investment Properties

As at 31 March 2021, principal properties held for investment
purposes in Hong Kong are as follows:

Address:

—  9th Floor, Capital Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road,
Hong Kong

— Car Parking Space No. 303 on 3rd Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

—  Car Parking Space No. 304 on 3rd Floor, Capital
Centre, No. 151 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong

Lot No.:

—  The Remaining Portion of Section A of the Inland Lot
No. 2755

—  The Remaining Portion of Inland Lot No. 2755
Existing Use: Office rental

Lease Term: Long term
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Details of the movement in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

purposed in the PRC are as follows: B2EXEMEMAT
Address: 4k
No. 6, Jin Da Road, Hui Nan Hi-Tech Industrial Park, HuiAo FREEREEMNMERRNBEERSHH
Highway, Huizhou, Guangdong, The PRC HE¥E S E KW
Existing Use: Factory rental BWHER® & = AR
Lease Term: Long term TRAFH 5
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Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year, the Group spent approximately HK$6.4 million
on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment principally to
expand and upgrade its manufacturing facilities. Details of these
and other movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Directors and Directors’ Service
Contracts

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Managing Director)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie

Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Professor Lo Chung Mau

According to bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Dr. Cheung
Shu Sang, William and Professor Lo Chung Mau shall retire at the
Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election.

The term of office of each director (except for the Chairman of the
Board and/or the Managing Director) is the period up to his/her
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

None of the directors of the Company proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has any service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures

At 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
directors and the chief executives and their associates in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFQO”), or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company
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Number of ordinary shares held Approximate %
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Name Capacity interest interest Total of the Company
EARBRITRG
®E &6 5PN £ Hitt i & By ZBRNBEAL
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan Beneficial Owner 49,695,335
R RE S A ERBEEA
Beneficiary of trust 156,349,960 206,045,295 61.43%
FREXHEA (Note)
(Hit)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie Beneficial Owner 600,000
KB 2t E=BEEA
Beneficiary of trust 156,349,960 156,949,960 46.79%
BEEXmEA (Note)
(K it)
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie Beneficial Owner 1,258,000
REM LT ESEBA
Beneficiary of trust 156,349,960 157,607,960 46.99%
FAXaEA (Note)
(H#t)
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William Beneficial Owner 900,000
R L ERBEEA
Beneficiary of trust 156,349,960 157,249,960 46.88%
EAXEA (Note)
(Hit)
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures
(Continued)

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (Continued)
Note:

The references to 156,349,960 shares relate to the same block of shares
in the Company, of which 134,821,960 shares are held by Allan Investment
Co. Limited (“AICL"), 14,958,000 shares are held by Commence Investment
Limited (“CIL”) and 6,570,000 shares are held by Unison Associates Limited
(*UAL"). AICL and CIL are owned as to 89% and 100% respectively by
UAL. Credit Suisse Trust Limited as trustee of The Cheung Lun Family
Trust (“Trust”) holds 100% of the shareholding of UAL and the discretionary
beneficiaries of the Trust are, among others, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan, Ms.
Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie and Dr. Cheung
Shu Sang, William.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives,
nor their associates, of the Company had, as at 31 March 2021,
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Share Option Scheme

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in
Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the scheme.

Arrangement to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than the share option scheme set out in Note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Update on directors’ information
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules

There is no change in the Directors’ information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Appointment of Independent
Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 313 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange. The Company considers all of
the independent non-executive directors are independent.

EEEHRA

BRES

Apmz BREFSFRENGAV B RS
EM5E28 o

Bzt Bl A R EE B RER D

BERODIEZ2ZH

BENREMERE S M T8z BRI 3
Sh - ARRSHEE MM B AR R FABES K
ERAZH EARBESTAEBALQA L
HM AR ZBRMDHESME S -

R EmRBE13.51BA)EE
HEEEH

RIE LT RAIEIBSBORETRENEEE
B R -

BYFHTESZEHE

ARRIEEERBUFFATESTSEE L 2
RERTENEBRIAESF MR T LR
HRANDEBABMEREZ BN - ARRRA -
ERBYFNTETHRBILAL -



Directors’ Report

Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement and Contracts of
Significance

Allan International Holdings Limited (“AlHL”), entered into a tenancy
agreement with Ardent Investment Limited (“Ardent”), a subsidiary
of a substantial shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which
Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of certain premises
on Unit B, 23rd Floor, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung
Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$123,800.
The tenancy agreement was for a term of one year commenced
from 1 September 2020. The total amount of rent paid for the year
by the Group in respect of this agreement was HK$1,485,600.

AIHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with Ardent, pursuant to
which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of car park No.
35, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan,
Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$3,800. The tenancy agreement
was a term of one year commenced from 1 November 2020. The
total amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of
this agreement was HK$43,500.

AIHL, entered into a tenancy agreement with Ardent, pursuant to
which Ardent granted to AIHL a tenancy in respect of car park No.
33, Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan,
Hong Kong at a monthly rent of HK$3,800. The tenancy agreement
was a term of one year commenced from 1 November 2020. The
total amount of rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of
this agreement was HK$43,500.

Conan Electric Manufacturing Limited (“Conan”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement
with Fair Pacific Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AICL, a
substantial shareholder of the Company, pursuant to which Fair
Pacific Limited granted to Conan a tenancy in respect of certain
land in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial Development Zone,
Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a monthly rent of HK$82,000.
The tenancy agreement was for a term of one year commenced
from 1 April 2020. The total amount of rent paid for the year by
the Group in respect of this agreement was HK$984,000.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangement and Contracts of
Significance (continuea)

Allan Plastics Mfg., Limited (“APML”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement with Income
Village Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of AICL, pursuant
to which Income Village Limited granted to APML a tenancy in
respect of certain premises in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial
Development Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a
monthly rent of HK$17,000. The tenancy agreement was for a term
of one year commenced from 1 April 2020. The total amount of
rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement
was HK$204,000.

Karan Electric Manufacturing Limited (“Karan”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a tenancy agreement
with AICL, pursuant to which AICL granted to Karan a tenancy
in respect of certain premises in Lilin, Zhongkai Hi-Tech Industrial
Development Zone, Huizhou City, Guangdong, the PRC at a
monthly rent of HK$75,000. The tenancy agreement was for a term
of one year commenced from 1 April 2020. The total amount of
rent paid for the year by the Group in respect of this agreement
was HK$900,000.

The above transactions were approved by the independent non-
executive directors and were conducted on normal commercial
terms in the ordinary course of business of the Group and in
accordance with the terms of the agreement governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Other than disclosed above, no transactions, arrangement and
contracts of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director or a connected entity of a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Directors’ Report

Emolument Policy

Salary package for employees are structured by reference to
market conditions, staff’s experience and individual performance.
Other benefits offered by the Group included medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, training subsidies, share option
scheme and discretionary bonus.

The emoluments of the directors and senior management are
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
and decided by the Board, with reference to the market rates,
commitment, contribution and their duties, and responsibilities with
the Group. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in details
in Note 8 to the financial statements.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive

to the directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2021,
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO

the register of substantial shareholders

shows that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of
certain directors and chief executive, the following shareholders had
notified the Company of relevant interests and long/short positions
in the issued share capital of the Company.
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Substantial Shareholders (continueq)

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder
BREREZRE

Credit Suisse Trust Limited

UAL

AICL
TR E

Webb, David Michael

=

EEHRE

FERR#@

Preferable Situation Assets Limited

FERRALTDARBZETR
Number of Approximate %
Capacity ordinary shares of shareholding
HREZ
& 4 ZERRKRMG BHABESL
Trustee 156,349,960 46.61%
EFEA
Held by controlled corporation 149,779,960 44.65%
Frizslc AaliEhA
Beneficial Owner 6,570,000 1.96%
EmEAA
Beneficial Owner 134,821,960 40.19%
EmEAA
Beneficial Owner 12,721,000 3.79%
EnEAA
Held by controlled corporation 24,197,000 7.21%
FriZslz Aalfa (Note)
(H73t)
Beneficial Owner 24,197,000 7.21%
EmEAA (Note)
(H1it)

Note:

The reference to 24,197,000 shares above are held by Preferable Situation
Assets Limited, a company 100% controlled by Mr. Webb, David Michael.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Company has
not been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO.
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Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$99,000.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices of the Company is set out in the “Corporate

Governance Report” on pages 31 to 41.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws/articles of association, or the laws of Bermuda, which

would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 March 2021.

Auditor

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to
re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2021
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company recognizes that good corporate governance is vital
to the success of the Group and the sustained development of the
Group. The Company aims at complying with, where appropriate,
all code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The
Company has, throughout the year ended 31 March 2021, applied
and complied with most of the code provisions save for certain
deviations from the code provisions in respect of code provisions
A.41, A4.2, A51, and A.6.7, details of which are explained below.

Directors’ Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
made specific enquiry to all directors regarding any non-compliance
with the Model Code during the year under review and they have all
confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code.

Board of Directors

The Board comprises of four Executive Directors, being Ms.
Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Shu Wan
(Managing Director), Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie and Dr. Cheung
Shu Sang, William; and three Independent Non-Executive Directors,
being Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon and
Professor Lo Chung Mau. Biographical details, which include
relationships among members of the Board, are provided in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section of this Annual Report.
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Board of Directors (continued)

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and
the management. The Board is responsible for providing high-level
guidance and effective oversight of the management while day-to-
day management of the Group is delegated to the management
team of each respective subsidiary. Generally speaking, the Board
is responsible for:

° Formulating the Group’s long term strategy and monitoring
he implementation thereof

° Approval of interim and year end dividend

° Reviewing and approving the annual and interim reports
o Ensuring good corporate governance and compliance

° Monitoring the performance of the management

° Reviewing and approving any material acquisition and assets
disposal

The Board authorises the management to carry out the strategies
that have been approved.

The Board meets regularly at least four times a year and additional
meetings or telephone conferences are convened as and when the
Board considers necessary. During the year, four board meetings
were held. Details of the Directors’ attendance record in the year
are as follows:

Attendance/

Executive Directors No. of meeting

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie 4/4
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan 4/4
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie 4/4
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William 4/4

Attendance/

Independent Non-Executive Directors No. of meeting

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan 4/4
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon 4/4
Professor Lo Chung Mau 4/4

BEEEs
EERAEEE NAENST  ESR AR
AERBIRMSER AER R ER

MEMEE 2 BRERATET 2HEATZ
EREEAE - —HNE EFEIREQHE:

o BRI AKEREZ KR U REHNITIE

B
. BBEERERRS

o BERBERFRPMEERE
. BRRECETARMTHET

e EREREEENRR

. ma RHLEEMERZBBEREELE

E=SCREEEBNITC B ERKE

ExgrRgTes I F5xL870EK
EFXem CEFERRBFEBATER
TRMNESFSERXREFEE - RFR B
BUITHREES  THRREERFRAZLFE
E =&

HES
BITES SERH
REE Lt 4/4
SRS AR ST A 4/4
KRBT 4/4
R EEBL 4/4

HES
BYFEHITES SERH
BB T 4/4
AR & 4/4
& E 4/4

31



32

Corporate Governance Report

Board of Directors (continued)

The Company has complied with the Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and
3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one of the
Independent Non-Executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors has
made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
Independent Non-Executive Directors meet the independence

guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnity its directors against liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

Chairman and Chief Executive

The Board considered that the duties of the Managing Director, Mr.
Cheung Shu Wan (“MD”) were no different from that required of a
chief executive stipulated under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code. The management would regard that the term MD will have
the same meaning as the chief executive of the Company.

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, the Chairman of the Board, is
an Executive Director who is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board, and ensuring that all significant
and key issues are discussed and where required, resolved by the
Board timely and constructively.

The MD of the Board
responsibility to

is delegated with the authority and
run the Group’s business and day-to-day
operation, and implement the Group’s strategy with respect to the
achievement of its business objectives with the assistance of the
executive directors and senior management.
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Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors should
be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

Currently, none of the three Independent Non-Executive Directors
of the Company is appointed for a specific term. This constitutes a
deviation from the CG Code. In accordance with the provisions of
the Bye-laws of the Company, any director appointed by the Board
during the year shall retire and submit themselves for re-election at
the first general meeting immediately following his/her appointment.
Further, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third,
shall retire from office. The directors to retire by rotation shall be
those who have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are similar to those in the CG Code.

Code provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment, and every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the chairman and/or the
managing director is not subject to retirement by rotation or taken
into account in determining the number of directors to retire. This
constitutes a deviation from the CG Code. As continuation is a key
factor to the successful implementation of any long term business
plans, the Board believes that, the present arrangement is most
beneficial to the Company and the shareholders as a whole.
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Directors’ Training

All Directors participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
All directors participate in appropriate continuous professional
development activities by ways of attending training or reading
material relevant to the Company’s business or to the directors’
duties and responsibilities. During the year ended 31 March 2021,
the Company has provided an update on the latest development
and changes of the Listing Rules, applicable laws, rules and
regulations relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities to
each of Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Mr. Cheung Shu Wan,
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie, Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William, Ms.
Choy Wai Sheun, Susan, Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon and Professor Lo
Chung Mau to keep themselves update on the roles, functions and
duties of a listed company director. The Company has received the
records of training from all directors.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and comprises
three Board members, all of whom are independent non-executive
directors. The Audit Committee has adopted the same terms
of reference, which describe the authority and duties of the
Committee, as quoted under code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee will meet at least twice each year. During the
year, the Audit Committee met twice considering the annual results
of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 and the
interim results of the Group for the 6 months ended 30 September
2020, assessing any changes in accounting policies and practices,
major judgmental areas and compliance with applicable legal and
accounting requirements and standards, discussing with the auditor
of the Company on the risk management and internal control
systems.

Details of Committee members and their attendance records are
listed as below:

Attendance/

Committee member No. of meeting

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon 2/2
Professor Lo Chung Mau 2/2
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2012 with written
terms of reference as stated in Code B.1.2 of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee consists of three members, majority of
which are Independent Non-Executive Directors. Mr. Lai Ah Ming,
Leon, being an Independent Non-Executive Director, acts as the
chairman. an Independent Non-Executive Director, Ms. Choy Wai
Sheun, Susan, an Independent Non-Executive Director and Ms.
Cheung Lai See, Sophie, an Executive Director, are the Committee
Members.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for ensuring formal
and transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies
and overseeing the remuneration packages of all directors
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendation to the Board for the determination of the
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and make
recommendations to the Board for the directors’ fee of non-
executive directors. It takes into account factors such as salaries
paid by comparable companies with similar size and trade,
education background and qualification of each director and senior
management, time commitment and responsibilities of directors and
senior management.

During the vyear, the Remuneration Committee has held one
meeting, in which it reviewed, discussed and approved the
remuneration policies, system, package and the discretionary
bonus of the directors and senior management of the Company.
Attendance of each individual member was as follows:

Attendance/

Committee member No. of meeting

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon (Chairman) 11
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie 11
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan 11

Details on the emolument payable to the directors and the
Company’s share option scheme are disclosed in Notes 8 and 28
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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Nomination of Directors

Code provision A.5.1 stipulates that the Company should establish
a nomination committee. Currently, the Company does not have
a nomination committee. The Board will identify individuals
suitably qualified to become board members when necessary.
The Board will give due consideration to the suitability of a
candidate for directorship after taking into account of his/her
experience, qualification and other relevant factors. All candidates
must also meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and
3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed
as an independent non-executive director should also meet the

independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance; review and monitor
the training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management; review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to employees and directors; and review the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

During the year, the Board reviewed the Group’s compliance with
the code of corporate governance disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report and approved the 2020/2021
Corporate Governance Report of the Company.

Company Secretary

Ms. Wong Lai Yung joined the Company since 2006 and was
appointed as the Company Secretary in 2012. Ms. Wong is
responsible to update and provide advice to the Board in relation
to directors’ obligations under the Listing Rules, applicable laws
and regulations, and corporate governance matters. Ms. Wong
has provided her training records to the Company indicating her
compliance with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Ms. Wong’s biographical details are provided in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section of this Annual Report.
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Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no significant change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statement

The Board acknowledges that it is their responsibility for (i)
overseeing the preparation of the financial statements of the Group
with a view to ensuring such financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and (i) selecting suitable
accounting policies and applying the selected accounting policies
consistently with the support of reasonable and prudent judgement
and estimates.

A statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 42 to 48 of this Annual Report.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year under review, the remuneration payable to the
Company’s independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, is set
out as follows:

Services rendered Fees payable

HK$'000

Audit services 2,323
Non-audit services

Review of interim results 318

Taxation services 330

Audit of occupational retirement scheme 24
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Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board acknowledges that it is its duty to monitor the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an
ongoing basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board.

In light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the
Group, the Directors are of the view that it would be more cost
effective to appoint external independent professionals to perform
internal audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
The Group does not have an internal audit department and will
continue to review the need for an internal audit function.

During the year, the Group appointed KLC Transactions Limited
(“KLC”) as an external independent professional to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control reviews and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.
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Risk Management and Internal Controls
(Continued)

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by KLC to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of KLC as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

The Group has established internal control procedures for the
handling and dissemination of inside information in order to comply
with Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules as well as Part XIVA of the
SFO. The internal control mechanism includes information flow
and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangements, disclosure
procedures, and staff training arrangements, etc.
The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management and further enhance the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems as appropriate.

Dividend Policy

The board adopts a Dividend Policy which aims to allow
shareholders of the company to participate in the company’s profits
whilst retaining adequate reserves for the group’s future growth.
The board shall consider the following factors before declaring or
recommending dividends:

° the company’s actual and expected financial performance;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the company
and each of the members of the group;

° the group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

° the group’s liquidity position;
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Dividend Policy (Continued)

° general economic conditions, business cycle of the group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the company; and

° other factors that the board deems relevant.

The payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of Bermuda
and the company’s Bye-laws. The board will continually review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
period.

Shareholders’ Rights

On the requisition of shareholders of the Company holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, the Board
may convene a special general meeting to address specific issues
of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of written
notice to the registered office of the Company. The requisition must
state the purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s).

Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders or not less than 100 shareholders may
propose any resolution at the annual general meeting and circulate
to other shareholders written statement with respect to the matter
to be dealt with at the annual general meeting.

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
office address at Flat B, 23/F., Chaiwan Industrial Centre, 20 Lee
Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong.

B EBE @

e ERBEREMN AEEXBENBEXBE
Bl AR B ARRER  MBEENE
NAEBZENANESIIERR &

e EFZRARA/AHEBENEMRAERE-

ARRBR BB IV BT B RA B ARG -
BRARZEVNERARAERMAR -EER
7B A AL B R - WA RE & A E(THE
EHERSERSESBENRE

iR R A

ERBTIRARBHRBAT D Z—HBR
EXT - EFFAINAANRF LM EREE
HEEBAN _+—HABRARRFEFI RS
RIEARBINFERR - ZBRKBAINHAE
EER MEZBERALRE -

REMBRRERRETIR _+oz—2K
KT PR100BBIR - AIRMEI R R A F K
SLREAMAREIAEMKRENBH
RERBAFAGLBZZRME -

BEABEERBESTCHICET &R
AARESMEBE U - MU B E B L EF
A0SR S E R LT KE23EBE - Wik A
NAME -



Corporate Governance Report

Communication with Shareholders

The Company regards its Annual General

opportunity for direct communication between the Board and its

Meeting as an

shareholders. All Directors and external auditor make an effort
to attend the Annual General Meeting to address shareholders’
queries. The Company also responds to requests for information
and queries from the shareholders and investors and welcomes
the views of shareholders on matter affecting the Group and
encourages them to attend shareholders’ meeting to communicate
any concerns they might have with the Board.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors shall attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders.

An independent non-executive director did not attend the Annual
General Meeting of the Company held on 26 August 2020 due to
other business engagements.
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ALLAN INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Allan
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 49 to 159,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and

we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HRETSBE

Valuation of investment properties

REYEILE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter due to the significant assumptions and
judgements involved in determining their fair value.
BPEIAREVENREFERBARNEAFTE 2R
EORTEHERFEMES DR EKREBRRMAE -

The Group’s investment properties amounted to
HK$508,758,000 as at 31 March 2021
from changes in fair value of investment properties
of HK$2,832,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

and a loss

income for the year then ended.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RMNBTUNAEEREASHETRERE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

BB ERENENEF B

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and

objectivity of the Surveyors;

e B UESERASMONTERSN MENTE
M o
o Obtaining an understanding from the Surveyors

about the valuation technique, the performance of
the market, significant assumptions adopted and key
inputs used in the valuations;
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o Checking the accuracy and integrity of tenancy
information provided by management to the
Surveyors with the underlying source documents;
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Key Audit Matters (continueq)

Key audit matter

BREEITEE

As disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, all of the Group’s investment properties were
stated at fair value based on a valuation performed by
a firm of independent qualified professional surveyors
(“Surveyors”). The fair value of the Group’s investment
properties in Hong Kong was determined by adopting the
direct comparison method. The valuation is sensitive to the
market unit rate of comparable properties and adjustment
factors for size, view and floor level of property and timing
of the comparable transactions. The fair value of the
Group’s investment properties in the People’s Republic
of China was determined by adopting the term and
reversion analysis of investment approach. The valuation
is sensitive to market rents with key inputs including rental
in reversionary period and vyield.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RAMNBTNAEERESHETRE

Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
used by the Surveyors in the valuation of investment
properties at year end, including the rental in
reversionary period, yield, market rents, market unit
rate of individual unit and adjustment factors for
size, view and floor level of property and timing of
comparable transactions against current market data
and entity specific information on a sample basis;
and
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With the assistance of our internal valuation
specialist, assessing the appropriateness of the term
and reversion analysis of investment approach and
the reasonableness of the relevant valuation inputs
used by the Surveyors in the valuation of investment
properties at year end.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
The other
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

information. information comprises the information

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Sunnie Sy.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or

Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Revenue =
Cost of sales 58 A AN
Gross profit E 7
Other income H b Uy 2=
Other gains and losses Ha & A K EE
Selling and distribution expenses $HE R 5K A
Administrative expenses SN
Loss on fair value changes of investment KEMEZ NV EEY
properties FrE £/ E1E
(Impairment loss) reversal of impairment loss R IEEIE EEEER T
under expected credit loss model, net MCREEER)
VERIEY SEEEEE P

RITERZMBER
B 5 B A (B 18)

Finance costs on secured bank loan

Profit (loss) before tax

Income tax expense Frig B f <

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to owners ZAN4EfE A] 9 AR 45 A Bk
of the Company BAZBN(ERE)

Other comprehensive income (expense): HfbZ2HEWE (BAX):

Items that will not be reclassified to profit # T EE# 7 EF 5

or loss: wmHIIEA

Gain on revaluation of manufactory plants and 4 E R E & fF HEEE
right-of-use assets transferred to investment ®EEREWEEH
properties Fir 15 & 71

Deferred taxation on gain on revaluation of A EMENEREEE
manufactory plants and right-of-use assets BEEHR &Y EEH

PS8 2 BT IR

transferred to investment properties

Items that may be reclassified HEGHEEH 7 EZ
subsequently to profit or loss: BmpEE

Exchange differences arising on translation & /BINEFEFTEE 2
of foreign operations EH ER

Net fair value gain on debt instruments at fair & X FEFFAHMEE
value through other comprehensive income Wi 2 & #% T A
NEERFFE
Reclassification of investment revaluation HERAFEFTAEM
reserve upon disposal of debt instruments ~ &EWzE 2 EHLIE
at fair value through other comprehensive HIREEMFHEEN
income Pal
Other comprehensive income for the year REEAMEE KR
Total comprehensive income for the year ZA/NCICI BN R S W/NTE
attributable to owners of the Company BAZEEZEY =
B EE

FhaF(ER)
BN

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic

H fth 2 TH W &=

BE-—T-—F=-A=+—HLFE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FF

Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
H i FET FHIT
5 909,466 982,835
(756,403) (839,033)

153,063 143,802

6 24,057 26,177
7 (4,036) (7,471)
(18,779) (18,384)
(96,361) (103,975)
13 (2,832) (52,284)
(201) 373
(370) (1,025)
54,541 (12,787)
9 (8,139) (5,377)
10 46,402 (18,164)
13 - 114,410
13 - (28,603)
- 85,807
21,863 (18,427)

532 40

27 5
22,422 (18,382)

22,422 67,425

68,824 49,261

12

HK13.8 centsi& Al

HK(5.4) cents /B 1l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 47 & Bf #& Ak 7 &

At 31 March 2021 R-_FZ—F=A=1+—H
2021 2020
B —F —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
b & FET FE T
Non-current assets FEMEE E
Investment properties "EME 13 508,758 493,545
Property, plant and equipment M BERRE 14 38,669 44,037
Right-of-use assets FERAREE 16 4,131 4,314
Club debentures 2 #EEFE 5 16 10,343 11,018
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, ENEEWE  KE
plant and equipment MEHETT® 3,209 1,878
565,110 554,792
Current assets MBNE E
Inventories A 17 93,858 56,307
Trade receivables & W & 5 BR K 18 240,597 133,718
Other receivables H b & Y BR 3K 18 17,832 16,788
Mould deposits paid ENEARS 4,331 7,317
Financial assets at fair value through profit & @B E A F(E
or loss (“FVTPL?) AECUBEE 19 21,046 23,278
Debt instruments at fair value through other & A FE T A E At
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) T HE KR ZETS
TA 20 24,646 25,664
Tax recoverable FE R IR 181 93
Short-term deposits ySREREP N 21 95,561 237,423
Bank balances and cash RITHEGERIR® 21 520,762 419,392
1,018,814 919,980
Current liabilities mEBBE
Trade payables FEE 5 BR 5K 22 147,700 91,994
Other payables and accruals Ho4th B BR ;%
JE A AR A 101,887 92,086
Mould deposits received BWEERT® 27,450 20,443
Tax liabilities MIBEE 38,136 35,947
Secured bank loan BHEBRITER 23 5,124 5,124
320,297 045,594
Net current assets mBEEFE 698,517 674,386

Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBARE 1,263,627 1,229,178




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2021

Non-current liabilities EmBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FELERIEEE
Secured bank loan EEMRITER

Net assets BEFE

Capital and reserves BARR
Share capital [N
Reserves it

The consolidated financial statements on pages 49 to 159 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29
June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

CHEUNG LAI CHUN, MAGGIE
REY
DIRECTOR
EFE

e MR R R

R_E-_—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
i iF FET FH&T
24 37,720 36,782
23 20,913 26,037
58,633 62,819

1,204,994 1,166,359

25 33,543 33,543
1,171,451 1,132,816

1,204,994 1,166,359

FLOFEIRE IR A VB REZEENZ
FERA-thBEESS i & RRET
THTNEEARREE:

i

£
%

CHEUNG LAI SEE, SOPHIE
REH
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity %z & #£ &=

For the year ended 31 March 2021

At 1 April 2019
Loss for the year

Exchange difference arising on translation
of foreign operations

Net fair value gain on debt instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

Reclassification of investment revaluation
reserve upon disposal of debt
instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Gain on revaluation of manufactory plants
and right-of-use assets transferred to
investment properties (Note 13)

Deferred taxation on gain on revaluation
of manufactory plants and
right-of-use assets transferred to
investment properties (Note 13)

Other comprehensive income (expense)
for the year

Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year

Dividends recognised as distribution
(Note 17)

At 31 March 2020
Profit for the year

Exchange difference arising on translation
of foreign operations

Net fair value gain on debt instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income

Reclassification of investment revaluation
reserve upon disposal of debt
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividends recognised as distribution
(Note 11)

At 31 March 2021

—Z-NE=A=1-H
rEEBR

BNEBREMEL L
ERZR

BATEGAEMZE
Mm%fﬁlﬂm
;@Eﬂ@gﬁ

HERATEFALLML
PENENEBIA
HREEMFRE
EipaR

EEBEREAELE
EZRENMERMELR
BB (W15

EEBEREAELE
HEERENEERMG
B2 BREHE
(H##13)

AERAMEER S
(%)

AEERENE ()
A

REFEZBRE
(Hiit11)

—F_TE=A=1-H
REREM

BNEBREMELL
ERZER
FON FE?AH@%E
M EBTAH
¥E§ﬂ@ﬁ
ﬁEEZ¥E?AHM
2AREMEKTA
&éiﬁﬁ%
EFNNE

AEEEMEERS
AEE2EREEE

BREIRLKE
(H#11)

W-ZE-_-€=fA=+-H

BER

BE T~ F=-A=1T—HLFE

Capital ~ Property Investment
Share Share redemption revaluation revaluation Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RARE NEEE REER
BRE  RGEE E1] E1] fE EXRRE REEN g
HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TEr  TEr  TEzr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEn
33,543 109,884 793 - (1) 23295 966,356 1,133,870
= = = = = = (18,164) (18,164)
- - - - - (18,427 - (18,427
- - - - 40 - - 40
= = = = 5) = = 5)
= = = 114,410 = = = 114,410
- - - (28,608) - - - (28,608)
= = = 85,807 45 (18,427) = 67,425
- - - 85,807 45 (18,427) (18,164) 49,261
- - - - - - (16,772) (16,772)
33,643 109,884 793 85,807 44 4,868 931,420 1,166,359
= = = = = = 46,402 46,402
- - - - - 21,863 - 21,863
- - - - 532 - - 532
= = = = 27 = = 27
= = = = 559 21,863 = 22,422
- - - - 559 21,863 46,402 68,824
= = = = = = (30,189) (30,189)
33,543 109,884 793 85,807 603 26,731 947,633 1,204,994




REREMRNER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

L
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE
2021 2020
—E_—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT Fi&ET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES & & T B
Profit (loss) before tax BR B A& A (B3 18) 54,541 (12,787)
Adjustments for: T
Finance costs on secured bank loan EEBIRITE R Z B 370 1,025
Interest income A B WA (4,200) (6,591)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BERXREZ2ITE 13,812 15,884
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZINE 183 183
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) EWESEZNRBEHEE
on trade receivables under expected credit EEEA T AR EESE
loss model, net CREEE#ER) 5 201 (373)
Loss on fair value changes of investment BEMENFEEE)
properties FrEEZEE 2,832 52,284
(Gain) loss on disposal of club debentures HEEMES (BF)EE (675) 978
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEMRPEARKEM
equipment and land use rights located in (HFEDzZME - BE -
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) RN L R BT (30) (379)
Cumulative loss reclassified of investment HEZRAFEEGFTAEAM
revaluation reserve upon disposal of debt 2HKEEBFIE
instruments at FVTOCI HIEESEHREEEN
SEHRFTERE 27 5
Net (gain) loss on fair value changes of ERBREAFTEFEZ
financial assets at FVTPL PRMEEMNATEE
FREE A 8Y (B A) B5 18 /558 (3,653) 1,124
Write-off of property, plant and equipment MBRMZE - BENEE 129 929
Operating cash flows before movements in BEERNFEER 2 KE
working capital REME 63,537 52,282
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEmEs (31,022) 15,296
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables FE W E 5 BR SR (3E hn) R 4 (107,078) 117,178
Increase in other receivables H b & U7 BR FR 5 0 (342) 412)
Decrease in mould deposits paid B8 B % SR 2,986 3,862
Increase (decrease) in trade payables FERTE 5 BR FUIE A1 ORl4) 49,164 (42,244)
Increase (decrease) in other payables and E fth [ 15 BR 2 K% FE A~F
accruals AT 00 CR ) 4,157 (12,808)
Increase (decrease) in mould deposits received = W 18 B 1% 4 141 GF 4) 7,007 (10,705)
Cash (used in) generated from operations CEEE (TRRMEEZRS (11,591) 122,449
Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid) refund BEMNFH (B ER (1,066) 349
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT R B EMREH (4,034) (4,876)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING RETE(ME)RELE
ACTIVITIES ZREFHE (16,691) 117,922
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2021

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of

— financial assets at FVTPL

— debt instruments at FVTOCI

Net proceeds on disposal of property, plant
and equipment and land use rights located
in the PRC

Net proceeds on disposal of club debentures

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Purchases of investment properties

Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Withdrawal of short-term deposits

Placement of short-term deposits

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid

Interest paid

Repayment of secured bank loan

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR, represented by
bank balances and cash

SERERE
BE_ZT-_—F=A=+—HIt&FE
2021 2020
—E-—F —2-=F
HK$°000 HK$000
FHT FE T
B U F 8 4,695 7,206
%%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁr
— FREBEREATE
TECEREE 5,390 11,734
— BATEFAEMEZRE
W ES T A 1,550 5,484
o E AL B Ay 3 -
B N 5% 15 N £ b {5 BB R
EONIRCE Gk 63 597
HEEESTENE 1,350 1,180
BEYE BELZE (4,544) (10,552)
BEREME - (1,425)
BERBERKATFETE
ZERMBEE - (1,595)
ENEEYE BEXK
HisA (8,358) (1,952)
REVEHER 173,787 373,812
FHRREBRER (26,152) (454,632)
& EEBATE £ (FTRE)
IREER 152,781 (70,143)
& E
B AT A% B (30,189) (16,772)
AT H S (870) (1,025)
BEFEMRITER (5,124) (5,124)
MEETBHRERSE (35,683) (22,921)
HEeRBRESEHEEMFE
100,407 24,858
RENMzHEREASEE
419,392 397,949
INEEEEG 28 963 (3,415)
REZEZRERESEE
HERBTEERES
520,762 419,392




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

1.

General Information
Allan International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its
immediate holding company is Allan Investment Company
Limited, a private company incorporated in Hong Kong; and
its ultimate holding company is Credit Suisse Trust Limited,
who is a trustee of The Cheung Lun Family Trust, the
discretionary beneficiaries of which are, among other family
members, the directors of the Company, Mr. Cheung Shu
Wan, Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie, Ms. Cheung Lai See,
Sophie and Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information section
of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company and
provides corporate management services to its subsidiaries.
The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are manufacturing and trading of household
electrical appliances.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #R &S BB R EE KM ==

I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLFE

56

Application of Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily effective
for the annual period beginning on or after 1 April 2020 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material

FEREEFTNE B M B &
‘ﬁfﬂﬂ(rﬁiﬁﬁﬂﬁiﬁ%‘ﬁ
g

FEFBHERNEEITETBMBRE
% A

REAFE AEECEXRKAREES
AR (EEGTMAS)EMN_
T_TFMA-—HAAZERHABNFEH
[ 9% Il 4 SR 0 BB A 75 4R & BRI B 2
BERHNEZR A9 5] FF1E AT K 51 & 78 B 7%
FEANZBETA  UREASESA
B HmE:

EREGHEYNFIRLE BRNEE

and HKAS 8 HEGTERFE8H
(EIPN
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business ERMEHEREAEIR EBNTER
(EXIPN
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark A 7S B 7% 3R & 2E R IR EAE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform FO% - BAEFER  HFE

Except as described below, the application of the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

SF395% R BB M5
HELENETHRERT AR

BRIXPratEsN  RAFEEREEH
B & E R IR L B MER A 5] & AT
REETNBABYHHRELEANE AEE
RAFE R BEFENBM BRI RRE
R/ BRMEGEVBERRABNRES
AW BEATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Application of Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
provide a new definition of material that states “information
is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements, which provide
financial information about a specific reporting entity”. The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the
nature or magnitude of information, either individually or in
combination with other information, in the context of the
financial statements taken as a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

B

REMBHRESHE
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FE FH&IEET & 78 B 7% 3R
%']]E)EJJ (EAMBEREE
Al =)

FEEREERNKEITEBUBHRSE
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BRRBEEBE;EREIRREEE
ERFEEHEANEE | ZIETEHF
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RAEE  AEBCERXRATESE
AIERE RB B G ERIFSRETA -
BEEITHEARBRTHOESE  HF
gt TR R - RBAEE BB TE
THEREHPENFEETERFPIAEN
MBEBRSERERELUWBHRERNR
AlEEE - WIFRHMBEREFED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #R &S BB R EE KM ==

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLFE
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Application of Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®
Reference to the Conceptual Framework!

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 22

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

2.

FEREEFTNE B M B &
EEA(EEMBREE

Al )z

EEMEEMRERZHTREETZE

7 B 1% R & %A

BB B REER
F175%

BB BEREER
ERE AP

BEMBHREERF
¥ BB ER
305 - HAERER
SRBETH - BB
BT R R B B A
RE BT BREER
EGACTIE

BB B REER
FORRE B
B FE28H B E] A

R AR &
REER
B HEZR M5 A

MEZEHE —

£ MR

REERABENAR
B %2 Ee
EEHREIIES

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions' %?é B 7% R & A “E-NEHRERE
F16RIEF] K SHERSER
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions BRI BREER R-E_—& A=+
beyond 30 June 2021 E16HRIEFT A RS —NEHE
ERRSHEERE
BEe
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or ERCHERNEIR ABEIBARDI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Application of Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective (Continued)
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.
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Application of Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 /nterest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
relate to the modification of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities, specific hedge accounting requirements
and disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures to accompany the amendments
regarding modifications and hedge accounting.

° Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities
and lease liabilities. A practical expedient is
introduced for modifications required by the reform
(modifications required as a direct consequence of
the interest rate benchmark reform and made on an
economically equivalent basis). These modifications are
accounted for by updating the effective interest rate. All
other modifications are accounted for using the current
HKFRSs requirements. A similar practical expedient is
proposed for lessee accounting applying HKFRS 16;

FE FH&IEET & 78 B 7% 3R
%']]E)EJJ (EAMBEREE
Al =)

EBVMEREEANEE  FEHEHE
RI5539%% - BERMBREERHTR -
EBVEREEAEIERE B BER
ERAFIH BT A EFEELNE—F
ZE&

EAEVBREERFR  BAGEE
A 5395 - BBV HMEEAFTH -
BAVBRELERFAR REBIME R
A BRI AT EREENE—F
—EEPREHEE  cRBEREE
BENER  EABSEMBRELENE
THRIERMIA - REIB@EEII RETE
ATRENERETHENH FEAERK

e LHEE CREEBREEAME
MEK - REEMFBNEHREIAT
—ERATREE AR EREE
HEMEERMEONER XAR
ERBELESRER LT E
ERBERBEHERNMEAR - Ff
EEMENDRAENNET ST
BHREENRE AR - HRERA
BB W%, E R E165% AR

BETERIE - B TR 2T
HAE:



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. Application of Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“ H KFRSS”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 /nterest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2 (Continueqd)

Under the
amendments, hedge accounting is not discontinued

Hedge accounting requirements.
solely because of the interest rate benchmark reform.
(and
are required to be amended to reflect modifications

Hedging relationships related documentation)
to the hedged item, hedging instrument and hedged
risk. Amended hedging relationships should meet all
qualifying criteria to apply hedge accounting, including

effectiveness requirements; and

Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures
in order to allow users to understand the nature and
extent of risks arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform to which the Group is exposed to and how
the entity manages those risks as well as the entity’s
progress in transitioning from interbank offered rates
to alternative benchmark rates, and how the entity is
managing this transition.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has several Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) bank loans which will or
may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform. The Group
expects no significant gains or losses should the interest rate
benchmark for these loans change resulting from the reform
on application of the amendments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties and certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or
value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZT--—F=A=t+-RLFE

3. KEMKBHRRNEREXE
EFEEHHREF e

3.1

REMBRRNOER(E)

AFERTMEZ2EERAERY
BEFRSHLEBEEMBMAE
& BEMIOER - Tw%ER
ERNERBEEREAEMEE
Bt ESH - MmHE2EER
AAERMUEESRGEEERS
EZEEELRENFH  AIXE
BEGFEEXRBENAFER
NEERZERH - REMHR
RAARFER HBEENRF
BEREMEEETE  HEEEUH
WELERFE2R (URGBERZ
M BEARNABRMNKRZS - RIE
BEMBHREERE16REARTE
MOBUEALF A FEWELES
RIS (FF B) MEy ] B3 %
BB B ST EAFEI65 (R
E)RBEREE) BT ERID -

FeRMEEZATENERESB
—UMH2RENRERRER
RERZEEMERZ EEMa
IHHZEEETR—UENRAENR
REBRAERZEEZMS2HE
EMERZEBERGETE -

]

63



64

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

3.2 Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continueq)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

Revenue from sales of household electrical appliance
are recognised at a point in time, when control of the
good is transferred to the customer, i.e. when goods
are delivered to the customer’s designated location. The
normal credit term is 30 to 180 days upon delivery.

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZP-—F=A=t+-RLFE

3. KEMKBHRRNWERELE
REESHHERe

3.2

TEEHEREGE)
KEEFEHNZ Wi (&)

ZH B R B - M mE A
THEAR-FEFE  ARATZ2E
TEREHBEBENRBNERS
5t T B B [ i 28 -

s BAKBEEYD FEFREN
SAFEAAREEEOMIRMH
B ) &

. HALEEOTAIRSHE
TP R B 4B R 4
BEE

e AKEMBHOYLRELHAK
SEEBKBAENEE B
REBHESEEKENLZ
RIBEBRMNITZHER -

B WARFFESERHKR
LIRS R R -

KEXRAERHEENRALERD
mEEH EERRERR  E
7 An B & X B B R B0 45 0E M B B
R - EHERHR AN ERS0
£180K °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-
value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date; and

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model,
right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment properties as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are presented within
“investment properties”.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)
Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-
lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”)
to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and
non-lease components. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component on the basis of their
relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value
at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rate fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Government grants are
presented under “other income”.

REMBHRESHE

2 - —®#=A=1+—HIt&EE

GEMKBRRNEREXE
REESHHERe

3.2 FEEHHE(E)

1B A
FEERRAGRAELS 2 HE
BRNIBEREA -

BT B
EEEMREANKESETRF
BN SEEREARBEEE M@
Bhig - BUNABI T & T AR -

RABECHEFE X KEELG
TN 5 B B B B IR S 4% 1 3 4 R
2R 4R B8 B 7S B 8 WA i B AEL R
YA - 7E AT Y ER B A R 4B AR AR
R BFMEIEMYEEIAT
BIITR e

71



72

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefit
Retirement benefit costs
Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (“ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(“MPF Scheme”) in December 2000, all being defined
contribution schemes, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when it recognises
any related restricting cost.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit (loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

REMBHRESHE

2 - —®#=A=1+—HIt&EE

GEMKBRRNEREXE
REESHHERe

3.2 FEEHHE(E)

#HE
FISHAXEAFERNREAR
EERLTA 2 AR ©

BITREREARBAFE 2R
g A 5B o R B A A Bl R
BBADEN BE - REEEL
BEIAEMEE Z BRI
WA STIRE - TRERTA B AR R
TR HBATE - NEE 2R
HRBEEE I AREHRACE
BEAAREEEBZRETH -

EEMBEGEAVHEREANE
ERAEREEEMBUGFERER
T ) 2 B B 2 [ 0 B M R
R MTBERVEREEE—
ReEERECHEAEREBE - EAH
EESHBRANRERMEEER
HEHNOERT G E - —REH
BAfIRERMEEZRERRELTR
BEE WEREZERANS
BR AR (ZBAHERIN T
BERAE AT ERRTEN
skgatm A o B REE R IR
BERAE-

73



74

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost, less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land and building
When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is
presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Transfer from owner-occupied property to investment
property carried at fair value

If a property becomes an investment property because
its use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-
use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation
reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Transfer from owner-occupied property to investment
property carried at fair value (Continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets other than properties under construction less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets.

Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use or no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit
or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)
The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

e

Br 5 & B &

BE_T_—F=A=+t—HILFE

3. &E
EEFEESTHXRe

BBRRNERREE

3.2 FEEHHE(E)

WE BMERZE HAEEE
URBEREE (BERI)ZHE
(&)

ME- -BERRE EAREE
AN & E R W 5 58 S (E
Bl & & - T BE 8 Bl & & AT He @
R AEBEEBARBEEEM
BREELABMZAIMNEEE -

AHBESEEBNMZBE - KA
BUAER—BH DR ER -
THEEEEBRIREEARECE
BN BAUZZFEERIREZR
AREVEER—BoEEENK
NREEEEMN - R EEEFRN
BRESELBENXREEES
iz 48 B %5 FE AT U Bl & 58 - I B A
BESELBEMIREeEESEN
AR M EREEEL R -

Al Bl & 8 A DT E R HE KA
&@%E@ZF%%°%¥%@
REER fAsrAKRRERE
Mﬁ%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ'%%
RERREMMIGHATH2ERE
REEREERERR(EBATE
HEBADCRRBA &R E b5 H AR5
LEH ) ©

79



80

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets other than
goodwill (Continued)
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or the group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination
to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

REMBHRESHE

I
HE_ZT—

3.

—F=A=+—BILFE

GEMKBRRNEREXE
REESHHERe

3.2 FEEHBE#E)
2@ T HEE)
THEE (&)
CRMEEZHEREBESE(E)

(i)

2 55 AR ) A BURA

HRBERABEK A E
MEEEERBRIEATE
AR EERENEST
B FIBKRATERERA
FORHER  FI B WA TIRE
HeREEMNBREERS
BERMNEEFE - HEERLR
FEERENESREERINZ
R -ERHREER
HMENEREEMS 81
—HmEHE - M EUWA T
TREEBHKARBER
MR AFER © fiil (5 ERE
ERMTAZEERRFE -
FEMEETHLREER
B RETEETBHARE
BERER  amEHANE
MBRATIHEREER
T A8 B & P B B ) =R 3 DA

A
177
e ©

85



86

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)
(ii) Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts
for debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI as
a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method, and foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. All other changes in the carrying amount of
these debt instruments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in profit
or loss with corresponding adjustment to other
comprehensive income without reducing the
carrying amounts of these debt instruments.
When these debt instruments are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss includes any dividend or interest earned
on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, other receivables, debt
instruments at FVTOCI, short-term deposits, and bank
balances) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-months ECL
(“12m ECL’) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of default,
ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but wil not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating
of “investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continueqd)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or

more events that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial

asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial

asset is credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over one years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R &S BB RS E KM ==

I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE

GEMKBRRNEREXE
REESHHERe

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 FEETEHEMAE)

Financial instruments (Continued) 2T HAE)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE(E)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) CRMEERBEGRE)

(V) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) v) BHEEBEBENERER
()

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference —RimE - BHEEBER

between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used
in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for investments in debt instruments that
are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
For investments in debt instruments that are
measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
without reducing the carrying amounts of these
debt instruments. Such amounts represents the
changes in the investment revaluation reserves in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continueqd)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the
asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Significant
Accounting Policies (continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including secured bank loan,
trade payables and other payables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognise financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios in Hong Kong and the
PRC, and concluded that the Group’s investment properties
in Hong Kong are not held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company have determined that the presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group has not recognised any deferred taxes
on changes in fair value of investment properties in Hong
Kong as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on the
fair value changes of the investment properties on disposal.

The directors of the Company concluded that the Group’s
investment properties in the PRC are held under a business
model whose objective is to earn rental which consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodies in the
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the
Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties in the
PRC, the directors of the Company have determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. The Group has recognised
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment
properties in the PRC as the Group is subject to income
tax rate of 256% on the fair value changes of the investment
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables
Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based on
aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors taking
into consideration the Group’s historical default
information that is reasonable and

rates
and forward-looking
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Due to greater financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19
pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss rates
in the current year as there is higher risk that a prolonged
pandemic could led to increased credit default rates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
are disclosed in Note 27(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty (Continued)

Valuation of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s investment
properties are stated at fair value of HK$508,758,000 (2020:
HK$493,545,000) based on the valuation performed by a firm
of independent qualified professional surveyors.

In determining the fair value of investment properties located
in Hong Kong, surveyors have used the direct comparison
method which involves estimation of market unit rate of
comparable properties and adjustment factors for size, view
and floor level of properties and timing of the comparable
transactions. Fair value of investment properties located in the
PRC was determined based on term and reversion analysis
of investment method by capitalising rental income on a
fully leased basis having regard to the current passing rental
income from existing tenancy and the potential reversionary
rental income at market level, with key inputs including rental
in reversionary period and yield.

In relying on the valuation reports, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgement and are satisfied
that the method of valuations are reflective of the current
market conditions. Note 13 provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions
used in the determination of the fair value of investment
properties.

B

REMBHRESHE

2T —F=RA=+—HItFEE

EEEHERMETTH
BAREMNEERR 2

KREYH#EE

R EEERE  AEEMREMER
FE B BESEIEST AL (ZE_E
F:4E89,35485T ) TH—KBL
AZEERAETHEE -

EEEMURNBEREMERFES A
BEEERERLBGE  ZTESR
HHRUMENT IS EMEEELFGE
WHWENRT - R8  BEREMUR
FHNERERRRAE - PEREVEH
NFERREREHRMER DT
- BEEEIBRBHAONEHESKA
M SRR BEERE S WA R E R
- BEB2ERERESWABR R
MR ABREREREASROKRE)
i B T Ky °

ARREFERHEERS LBTER
EZHE - EREETDEIRRREET
SRR - ARNEEREME 2R FER
ERM BABBERIEBRRZFAE
FHE XM 13K E -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. Revenue and Segment Information

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and
trading of household electrical appliance. Revenue of the
Group is sales of household electrical appliance.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, all received purchase orders
are expected to be completed within 1 year.

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors
(the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on geographical regions.

The Group is currently organised into four operating divisions
— Europe sales, Asia sales, America sales and other regions
sales. The information reported to the Group’s chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance is based on these operating
divisions.

Segment Revenues and Results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and
results for each of the reportable and operating segments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #R &S BB R EE KM ==

I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLFE
5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. #XHBR I HER @
(Continued)
Segment Revenues and Results (Continued) PHEEBERER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_E-_—F=-FA=+—HULFE
Other
Europe Asia  America regions  Consolidated
&M M M HtunE K8
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Note a)
(Hfita)
Segment revenue (Note a) DEEEE (W Ha) 428,655 11,132 336,167 33,512 909,466
Segment profit 28 F 31,159 8,078 24,436 2,436 66,109

Other gains and losses (except net HthBFI R EE

foreign exchange loss) (HMEE B 18 5 B RR 51 4,201
Depreciation (except moulds and HERARFRAEEE

right-of-use assets) BN (12,192)
Loss on fair value changes of RENEZATEED

investment properties FEENER (2,832)
Finance costs on secured bank loan ~ BEABRTEHT K E A (370)
Impairment loss on financial assets ~ £REERBHEEEE

under expected credit loss model, BRTHREBETE

net (201)
Unallocated income and expenses, net K2 B YW A K5 % FHE

(Note b) (hitp) (174)
Profit before tax B B¢ Al % Al 54,541
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R &S BB RS E KM ==

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE
5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. #XHBR I HFER @
(Continued)
Segment Revenues and Results (Continued) P EBE ¥§E REEZE)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE_E_FF=H=1—HIFE
Other
Europe Asia America regions Consolidated
E oM EN Hite RE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FET FET

(Note a)
(Hi#ta)
Segment revenue (Note g) DEEEE (W Ha) 461584 169,828 309,867 41,556 982,835
Segment profit B EF 26,919 9004 18,072 0424 57,319
Other gains and losses Hu AR RES (2,674)
(except net foreign exchange loss) (SNEE B 1B F B AN
Depreciation (except moulds and HERARFTAEEE (14,353)
right-of-use assets) B4
Loss on fair value changes of BEMEATEE (52,284)
investment properties P EE £ HY Eﬁ |
Finance costs on secured bank loan  BEFRTERTEER (1,025)
Reversal of impairment loss on financial 4 &b & & 1 Téi HEEEEE 373
assets under expected credit loss TR REBEEDRFE
model, net
Unallocated income and expenses, net & 7 B WA K i 248 (143)
(Note b) (H1:2b)
Loss before tax bR %1 Bl 5 18 (12,787)
Notes: gz
a) The allocation of segment revenue is determined based on a) DEEEBRNDERERE @AM E
destinations of shipment of products. B &) i fE SE o
b) Unallocated income and expenses mainly represented certain b) ROMBARFAZ EBREFE LA
other income, central administration costs and directors’ WA HRITHEBERAREEH € °
salaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

5.

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

Segment Revenues and Results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment profit represents the profit
earned by each segment without allocation of certain other
income, central administration cost and directors’ salaries,
other gains and losses (except net foreign exchange loss),
depreciation (except moulds and right-of-use assets), loss
on fair value changes of investment properties, finance
costs on secured bank loan and (impairment loss) reversal
of impairment loss of financial assets under expected
credit loss model, net. This is the measure reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment. Revenue
reported above represents revenue generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales in both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

Segment Assets and Liabilities

Fae)

MBHRESHEE

B Z-_—F=ZRA=+—HIt&EE
5. XN HER @

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segment:

Segment Assets

Europe

Asia

America
Other regions

Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Financial assets as FVTPL

Debt instruments at FVTOCI

Short-term deposits

Bank balances and cash

Investment properties

Plant, equipment and machinery
(except moulds)

Club debentures

Other receivables

Tax recoverable

Other unallocated assets (Note)

Consolidated assets

M

M

th 3th [

MEE

DREE
BRBERRAFEMEZ

B EE
RATEFAEMZEKEZ 2
BEHITE

5 HEITE

RITEFRRS

‘EYE

B - 2R e (I AR
eHEEFH

H fth fiE U5 BR 3K

FERT IR

Hpth R 5 B & &= (K7 2E)

Note: Other unallocated assets comprised right-of-use assets and
deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

THEERAE
KT NAREBIRAI2HR REED BN
BERBEBEER:

D HEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —TEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FH&T
172,774 97,480
46,975 36,732
108,326 56,327
13,206 9,309
341,281 199,848
21,046 23,278
24,646 25,664
95,561 237,423
520,762 419,392
508,758 493,545
36,174 41,531
10,343 11,018
17,832 16,788
181 93
7,340 6,192
1,583,924 1,474,772

Hrit: HEMAROPEEERECERBREER

ENBEENE BELRRBZATE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #R &S BB R EE KM ==

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. BEXHERIHER @

(Continued)
Segment Assets and Liabilities (Continued) PBEEREE(E)
Segment Liabilities T EHEE
2021 2020
—EZ—-F —TTHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Europe &M 10,523 8,107
Asia CED) 2,523 2,626
America =M 13,523 9,200
Other regions b i [& 881 510
Segment liabilities (Note) D EEE ) 27,450 20,443
Unallocated liabilities AOBARE
Trade payables ERNESER 147,700 91,994
Other payables and accruals Ho b B BR SR R RS R A 101,887 92,086
Secured bank loan BEHEBIRITE R 26,037 31,161
Tax liabilities MIBEE 38,136 35,947
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIERE 37,720 36,782
Consolidated liabilities LeEAarE 378,930 308,413
Note: Segment liabilities represented mould deposits received by Mt pHEIBEEE—DBEWERTS °

each segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBHRESHE

I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE
5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. #XHBR I HFER @
(Continued)
Information About Major Customers FEEFMNEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years AEEER B BEEEEI0%H N L
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are MEPEEENT:
as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Customer A (Europe, Asia, America and ZEA@OM - M~ =M
Other regions) R E ) 309,579 313,993
Customer B (Europe, Asia, America and ZEB(BUM ~ 5N~ EM
Other regions) K B A i [ ) 216,770 208,800
Customer C (Europe, Asia, America and ZEC UM~ 2N~ =M
Other regions) B E A b &) N/AT E ' 141,171
Customer D (Europe, Asia, America and ZED (BN~ 2M -~ EIM
Other regions) T B bt ) 168,474 132,452
Customer E (Europe, Asia, America and ZEE(BOM « 22 - EM
Other regions) Ko B b 3 [ ) 112,068 N/AT i@ A’

1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of i RAEMBIBA S B R A E ETE10%K
the total revenue of the Group. A =

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the REBEBEEMBFRBEBRFEARH
PRC. B (TRE]) °

Geographical Information

BRAASBE R EERENEEM
EiEmES

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

2021 2020

—EZ—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Hong Kong BB 290,366 293,199
The PRC H 274,744 261,593
565,110 554,792
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

Other Segment Information
Year ended 31 March 2021

Europe Asia
BOM M
HK$'000  HKS$'000
FEx FET

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss

REMBHRESHE

BE T~ F=-A=1T—HLFE

5. XN HER @

Hitp BEH
BE-—F-—F=ZH=+—HILFE
Other Total
America regions  segment Unallocated Consolidated
N EeoE 2H4F ROE G4&
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET

HEBCBENTED MENHEIEHL

or segment assets: DEEE
Additions to non-current assets FREEELN 597 137 932 52 1,718 4,704 6,422
Depreciation of property, plant nE - BERERER
and equipment and right-of-use FREEENE
assets 678 162 906 57 1,803 12,192 13,995
Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision [lig 2¢=0a Hﬂ? HEFBEERRAL
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit or BRBERFTED B EFkEERDE
loss or segment assets: BE:
Interest income on bank deposits 81777 3 2 FI B A - - - - - 3,490 3,490
Interest income on debt instruments &7 T & 2 F S %WA - - - - - 710 710
Rental income G0N - - - - - 10,096 10,096
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-—E—FF=H=1—HIFE
Other Total
Europe Asia America regions segment  Unallocated Consolidated
Y T N ERBE  HH8% AR 54
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET FET FAT FET FAET
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss HEEEEESNETE D 5 n sk Eiask
or segment assets: D EBE EE
Additions to non-current assets FERBEELEM 683 208 910 35 1,836 11,315 13,151
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #1% - BERRER
equipment and right-of-use assets ~ FHEZENE 705 236 724 49 1,714 14,353 16,067

Amounts regularly provided to the chief operating decision
maker but not included in the measure of segment profit or
loss or segment assets:

Interest income on bank deposits ~ RTFRZHERA = =
Interest income on debt instruments BT Az F 8K A = =
Rental income HelA = -

HBEERRBEEIRZEEREAL
BREERAEDEENNEIRLDF

BE:

- - - 5,744 5,744
- - - 847 847
= — — 8,811 881




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

6. Other Income

Rental income

Interest income

Building management fee income
Scrap sales

Government grants (Notg)

Others

Ha2A
A BA
BFEBERA
$HEEm

B 5 B & (7 aE)

H Al

Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government
grants of approximately HK$4,993,000 (2020: HK$6,893,000)
in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies, of which

approximately HK$4,499,000 (2020: nil) relates to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government and
approximately HK$494,000 (2020: HK$6,893,000) relates to
the Covid-19-related government assistance in the PRC. There

are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies in relation to the

grants.

REMBHRESHE

—F=A=+—BILFE

1
BHE_T—

6.

= — = —

Hitbig A

2021 2020
—E-—F —TEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT F&T
10,096 8,811
4,200 6,591
3,852 3,294
359 508
4,993 6,893
557 80
24,057 26,177

Mt -

RARFE - R & B 5t B Covid-1948
BB FER T 449983 T AT (=
T F : 689E3F B IL) MK T 1
B HA Q944989 F B n(Z T =
TFE EEFTARTRMEOME
BT EI BRI - H49BAT AT (=
T T F 68983 T L) A E
Covid- 19 BT IZ BN B -
BETHFERMENIEHNHBES

H e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

REMBHRESHE

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

7. Other Gains and Losses 7. HtBAREE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net foreign exchange loss SN B3 18 5 58 (8,237) (4,797)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE  BEREZEK
equipment and land use rights located in iz 7R B + s FAE 2
the PRC & 30 379
Gain (loss) on disposal of a club debenture H& & &5 2 &7
(E518) 675 (978)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment #1% - B E & :& & M & (129) (929)
Cumulative loss reclassified of investment HERAFEFAHMEE
revaluation reserve upon disposal of debt WR7EHKILEHEE
instruments at FVTOCI BhREEEH Y ENRT
=] (27) 5)
Net gain (loss) on fair value changes of BREBREATEFEZHG
financial assets at FVTPL BEENFEZESFES
Z B8N (ER)FR 3,653 (1,124)
Others EHAh, (1) (17)
(4,036) (7.471)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and

Employees’ Emoluments

(@

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the

year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing

Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as

follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2021

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Note 2)

Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon
Professor Lo Chung Mau
Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan

Total

UITES
REEBEAE

(Ht52)
RERLL
RBEHT L
R 4EBL

RERLE
ERRAR
3 3

e

REMBHRESHE

I
HE_ZT—

—F=A=+—BILFE

8. EEX FETHAERE
S &

EESRIETBRAEME

FARBEAERN EMRARE
BARMEPIRENEER BT
BABHMBEMT:

(@)

BEr-—FE-_—#=HF=+—H

ILFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fee benefits Bonus contribution Total
ek BIKEA
wHe HtEA A SRR B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK’000 HK$’000
FET FEx FET FET FEx
(Note 1)
(B 1)
- 2,785 2,711 282 5,778
- 2,045 321 206 2,572
- 1,770 298 177 2,245
- 1,532 278 153 1,963
120 - - - 120
120 - - - 120
240 8,132 3,608 818 12,798
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan (Note 2)
Ms. Cheung Lai Chun, Maggie
Ms. Cheung Lai See, Sophie
Dr. Cheung Shu Sang, William

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Cheung Lun (Note 3)

INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Ah Ming, Leon

Professor Lo Chung Mau

Dr. Chan How Chun (Note 4)

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan
(Note 5)

Total

HITES
RERELEM 22
REBY XL
REH XL
REEEL

FUTES
5 f 50 4 (F/i23)

BYXBTES

RHBELE
EERAE
BZEF L iF4)
BB (1 5#5)

REMBHRESHE

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

8. EE -FETHAEKRE
E €

EERTETBRAEME(A)

(a)

Bz T _ZFTF=-HA=+—H

IFFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fee benefits Bonus  contribution Total
ek RIKER
ik H A48 H fes ST FEk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FET
(Note 1)
(Hi:21)
= 2,938 1,665 282 4,885
= 2,056 321 206 2,583
= 1,775 298 177 2,250
= 1,528 278 153 1,959
1,250 = = = 1,250
120 = = = 120
120 = = = 120
1,490 8,297 2,562 818 13,167




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(@

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(1)

Professor

The bonus is determined with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Group.

Mr. Cheung Shu Wan is the managing director of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the managing
director. The board considered that the duties of the
managing director were no different from that required
of a chief executive stipulated. The management of
the Company would regard that the term of managing
director of the Company will have the same meaning
as the chief executive of the Company.

Mr. Cheung Lun passed away on 16 February 2020.

Dr. Chan How Chun resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 6 August 2019.

Ms. Choy Wai Sheun, Susan was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 29 August
2019.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The non-
executive director’'s emoluments shown above was
for his service as a director of the Company or its
subsidiaries. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as
directors of the Company.

Lo Chung Mau waived his fees of

HK$120,000 (2020: HK$120,000) for the year ended 31
March 2021 and 31 March 2020. Dr. Chan How Chun
waived her fees of nil for the year ended 31 March

2020.

e

Bt 75 8 5 E MY &

BE_T_—F=A=+t—HILFE

8. EE -FETHAEKE
E €

(@)

EERTETBRAEMES(E)
B 7t

M TATREENALTREER
BRE °

2 FTEBLTETREARARZES
Mgl EEMEEZME T
BIEMEAREESBLEER
BeBR BEEERAE EZ
“Wﬁm%%ﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁm

BEREMTETRR - AR
EFHME$ 7%%%%@
MG EARRITHRAENE
FAER o

@B FREER-T-_ZF_A+RX
Bt -

@ BREFBELIRZZ-AFNAR
FEHEBYFHTES -

6 EBEWEZIR-ZE-AFNAZ
TABEZERBIFNTE
=

© EIRTEEMEAREEHEE
BEARARAKREEHH RS -
EIERTEEHERTRER
R ARRE R E B AR ER °
OB RTEETHERE
SEREZR/ARARH KRG
ZER -

ERXHERNBE_T_—F=
A=t—BLEEER-_T_FTF=
A=t—BMEERS12EET -
REFBLRBE_ZT_TF=H
St HLESFEREEAS

7'|:o

7/E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

8. Directors’, Chief Executive’s and
Employees’ Emoluments (continued)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid employees of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2021 included four directors
(2020: four directors), details of whose remuneration are
set out above.

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the
remuneration of the one highest paid employee who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
is as follows:

Salaries and other allowances
Discretionary bonus
Retirement benefit scheme contribution

RERRAEAL

For the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, the
number of the one highest paid employee who are not
the directors of the Company whose remuneration fell
within the following band is as follows:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors
and five highest paid employees as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

ek EMmER

1,500,001 7T &
2,000,000 7T

e

22—

Bt 75 8 5 E MY &

—F=A=+—HBILFE

8. EE -FEMTHAERE
E €

(b)

BARAE T B 5K

BEME

BT —&=A=1+—HItHF

B REBAMNK
AR BEE(ZE_F

SHeERERRE
FARES)

HMSFBHEHN L

B FR_T_FTF=H
=+—BHILEFE  WIFARRES

HITHBHN &S H &S K
PUNNE

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-F

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ET Fi&ET

1,392 1,392

236 116

139 139

1,767 1,647

B FR T _FTF=A
=t+t—BIEFE  HHB—RFELR

AEZEENERTEMNEETEUT
#E A

2021 2020
—EZ—-F —E-F

No. of No. of

employees employees

ES&EH ES2H

1 1

HE —FR_ZFZFTF=H

:+*E¢¢E'$%lﬁﬁﬂ§
ERAEFHF RN EE SN
T AEEEMARSEKMNA
AREBSERBBMBE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R &S BB RS E KM ==

I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE
PA
9. Income Tax Expense 9. FIBHEX
2021 2020
B —-F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax: RNEFEEHIE

Hong Kong B 3,776 1,270
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR TS 4,445 4,421
8,221 5,691

(Over)underprovision in prior years: BEFEEECAE)

e

Hong Kong BB (1,020) (1,354)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRECEMGH - 114
(1,020) (1,240)
Deferred tax (Note 24) B FE B IA (B a2 24) 938 926
8,139 5,377
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council BERLEFERN_E-—N\F=A=+—H
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 BBCOTER B ST (BTHR)IE A E
(the “Bill’) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates Z)[MEPIER]) - 5| A M ARSI FI15 5 =
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and FlE - ZERRZZE—N\F=ZA=1+N
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered BEZERAERE WHREBEZRR LT
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of Ho EMABRHFEREHET - 5ER
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits EEEENE2008 8 T HE%E8.25%
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of B R R B E - 2008 74 T A LK F)E
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates 15 1216.5% BB R F - TR & R ARl
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. METEFENEEER  FMEGESE

1216.5% Bt — T R A -

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BEFBECEMGHBUE(DEMBEH
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax FEDRBERBEMA - B AT MIE
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. FEZEAELEMSHB25% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements #R &S BB R EE KM ==
BE-T-—G-A=+—ALER

For the year ended 31 March 2021

2,

Income Tax Expense (continued)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
(loss) before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

9. MBI

AERZHBNRAEEES
2 E R (XH) RAZ BT AT

loss and other comprehensive income (expense) as follows: BT

Profit (loss) before tax

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax

purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax

purpose

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

operating in the PRC

Qverprovision in respect of prior years
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised

Withholding tax on distributable profit of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC

Others

Income tax expense for the year

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
B % A i A (B 18) 54,541 (12,787)
BRE BTGB X16.5% 8,999 (2,110)
IR e
e 989 3,404
BAMB 2 WA IE
& (2,897) (1,343)
RPEEETRBRE
e 1,540 5,017
BEFEREEE (1,020) (1,240)
RERMIEEBEE 2o & 46 1,405
ZAIRBERHIEEER 2
(G (324) (284)
R B 3% A B 8 2 B AT 5 i
i A 2 B %R 678 632
Hh, 128 (104)
RNEZFHIE T H 8,139 5,377




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R &S BB RS E KM ==

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE
- \\M — =
10. Profit (Loss) for the Year 10. REE & H (E18)
2021 2020
B —-F —TFF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Profit (loss) for the year has been arrived at AFEEHF (EE) 20K
after charging: T %518
Employee benefit expenses, including BINAK(BRIEES
directors’ remunerations (Note 8) B <) (47 7#8)
— Salaries and allowances — BB NORR 211,640 223,863
— Retirement benefit scheme contributions — — 3R {18 7 5t 2 i 3%
(Note) (K1 7E) 7,112 16,096
Total employee benefit expenses BB TR 218,752 239,959
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - ME R R EHITE 13,812 15,884
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BEFRAERE 183 183
Total depreciation YT E 13,995 16,067
Gross rental income from investment KEMENBRES KA
properties (10,096) (8,811)
Less: direct operating expenses incurred for 5 : FRELH S W AR
investment properties that generated KEMEMELER
rental income during the year HEEERX 907 907
(9,189) (7,904)
Auditor’s remuneration % BURD B & 2,384 2,286
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 17 &R AR &FH X 756,403 839,033
Note: On 30 January 2020, the Ministry of Human Resources and B MZZEZZF-—A=+H fEAR
Social Security of the PRC issued an announcement regarding HMBEANDERME S REZL M
the administration of state-managed retirement benefit T B R T8 7 A8 H1 COVID-191% #5 H3
schemes during the period of prevention and containment of MEREENRAKRENGTEEEDN
the spread of Covid-19. Practices are taken by local Social DNE - B S RE D FEEREKE -
Security Bureau to reduce or waive employer contribution on —EEF-_AE+RHBRERM
these retirement benefit scheme contributions from February Dok Rk B X s LR IR AR R AT &
to December 2020. AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

REMBHRESHE

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 of HK8
cents (2020: final dividend in respect of the year ended 31
March 2020 of HK7 cents) per ordinary share, in aggregate
amount of HK$26,835,000 (2020: HK$23,480,000) and a
special dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021
of HK15 cents (2020: nil special dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2020) per ordinary share, in aggregate
amount of HK$50,315,000 (2020: nil), has been proposed
by the directors of the Company and is subject to approval
by the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.
The final and special dividends are expected to be paid on
20 September 2021 to shareholders whose names appear
on the Register of Members of the Company on 27 August
2021.

11. Dividends 1. R E
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAETT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the FAEHERIKE TAQT
Company recognised as distribution during 2 & B A% 3R 2 I B
the year:
— 2021 interim dividend of HK2 cents — —T—FFHERE
(2020: 2020 interim dividend of HK2 %25’%%
cents) per share —ETF:
ZETFhH
A& 227 (L) 6,709 6,709
— 2020 final dividend of HK7 cents — —ZE-THRHY
(2020: 2019 final dividend of HK3 cents) H” H&L?Wm
per share —E-TF:
—NFERH
A& 237 L) 23,480 10,063
30,189 16,772

RIFERERE  ARARZESEHIK
BHE_T-_—F=-A=T—HLFE
REREFRSBIW( ZE =T F: R H#
BEFR7EN) - 4% 5268385T
BIL(ZEZFF 12,3488 8 0) KR
BRESRISBEW( ZE_ZF HE-T
—EEZ A=+ —HIFEERBERRK
B) #4 5 A5031E85TBT(ZE-F

F8|E) o BERIREZRRE RER
BREERSRENRNBRITZBRERNE
LB - REARR B RAFRIR EFEE R
—E—FNAAZTHERE TR =—
FNAZ+TEBRINEARRF KR RAM
LEZRE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

12. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The calculation of the basic earnings (loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZT--—F=A=t+-RLFE

12. 8RB (BR)

SRADE L DAEBANEERF
18) 2 SHE BB T AR

Earnings (loss) for the purpose of basic MEREARRF (EE) M
earnings (loss) per share (profit (loss) for the =2 &H (BB XAREE
year attributable to owners of the Company) Al D EC45 R A RIHEA A

2 M (& 1))

2021 2020
—E-—F —TEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
46,402 (18,164)

Number of shares

REOBE
2021 2020
—EB=-F —ETF
‘000 ‘000
TR T
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of FLERERZEN (EE) M
basic earnings (loss) per share FZEBBR M KA 335,433 335,433

No diluted earnings (loss) per share has been presented for
both years as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
in issue.

EMFERARITEEHRET2EAK -
B AR BN EREERF (BE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

13. Investment Properties

The Group leases out various offices, car parks and
manufacturing plants under operating leases with rentals
payable monthly. The leases typically run for a fixed period
of 1 to 5 years (2020: 1 to 3 years) and the lease payments
are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The
lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/
or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of
lease term.

Manufactory plants with carrying values of HK$103,085,000
and the related right-of-use assets with carrying value of
HK$15,452,000 were transferred to investment properties on
1 April 2019 and measured using the fair value model. The
fair value of the property and the right-of-use assets on the
date of transfer was HK$232,947,000 in aggregate, resulting
in a revaluation gain of HK$114,410,000 and a deferred tax of
HK$28,603,000 recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On 10 April
2019, the Group has leased a portion of the manufactory
plants to an independent third party. On 1 December 2020,
the Group has leased remaining portions of manufactory
plants to an independent third party.

Other than transfer from property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets method above, the Group acquired
factory facilities located in the PRC for a consideration of
HK$1,425,000 for the year end 31 March 2020. No additions
is recognised for the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals are measured using fair value model and are
classified and accounted for as investment properties. These
investment properties are manufacturing plants, office units
and car park spacing.

REMBHRESHE

2 - —F#=A=1+—HItEE

13. REW#

AEENZBENTALEZ @R D
= -BULRERE  SAXHHEE -
HERERA—ERF(ZT_TF: —
E=F) HENREREHAREE -

HRAAEEEANEBRERSANIIEE
EHHE BAKBETERBEERHM
AZINERR  c HEARTESRERE
R/ RABAEHERRBEZDE
HEIZHE

AR E 1183088 5T /& T #) T M 5 [
FREE1,545B2F B TMBREAEE
EERZZE—NFEOA—RHERBRERE
Mz WEBAFEEERGE - %9
ERFERBEEAEBZEARATES
HE2M8320487 T8 EEMEEA
WHEFBFINB1ANB BT RELER
TH2,86083 T Bt  WERFAHNWEE
HEHERN - R-ZE—-AEWMA+H " &K
SEERBOBEHEERBILE=F -
R-ZE_FTF+_F—H AEEEH
BRI MEHRELBLE=F -

BREMBREOYE BERKEEZ
h  RBE—T-TF=A=1+—HIt -
N ER B 1A R B 9 35 & W) 2 5 0 TR S BR e
1428B5F B - REIZEZE_—F=H
=S+ —BIEWRBEHILHER -

AEEZLEHEARBESNYEES
THRAXTFERIGE  YOBRRKRE
MEWE ELREVEBRERER
F-BFRBMEML-



13. Investment Properties (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %R &

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BHz_—_Z—

HE_ZT—

13. BREYWXE »

Bt 75 8 5 E MY &

—F=A=+—BILFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —TEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
FAIR VALUE ~Y¥E
Balance at beginning of year F 4 493,545 327,400
Transfer from property, plant and ERAYE - MBI
equipment and right-of-use assets RiERAEEE - 118,637
Gain from change in fair value upon L%é&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ
transfer to investment properties REEEFAF - 114,410
Addition NE - 1,425
Net decrease in fair values recognised in A {H & &) P & 4 &Y
profit or loss FRERIBREER (2,832) (52,284)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 3 2 18,045 (15,943)
Balance at end of year FRA 508,758 493,545
Unrealised loss on property revaluation EEZANCARER
included in profit or loss %%EW&S 18 (2,832) (52,284)
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at REBREMER_ZT_—F=A=+

31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out on the respective dates
by RHL Appraisal Ltd., independent qualified professional
surveyor not connected to the Group.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties,
the directors of the Company work closely with qualified
professional surveyor to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model.

The valuation of the investment properties in Hong Kong,
which falls under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, has been
arrived at by using direct comparison method by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties
in the same locations and conditions. The valuation of the
investment properties in the PRC, which falls under level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy, has been arrived at by using term and
reversion analysis of investment method by capitalising rental
income on a fully leased basis and the potential reversionary
rental income at market level.

—BR_T_FEF-_A=1+—HWAY¥
BREXNTHEBERFEERQE(—
MBS EAREELCHMENERXAE
RAEER) RSB RHETH/HERL -

EEEHEAVNENRAFERS  ARFE
FHAEBNBEXRNEMBETGE - N
BUBEENGHERDMAEREA -

BEREVENGEBRATFEERSE
3 ERBEELEE X2 ZHEE

B FR G N ELUMENRZ S ERT
HEESL HRPEEEMENGBE
(BRAFEEBXEMN) BREBHIE
BHRIEB D HE  EHIHKER
BEEFHSWANER - BBE2HE
HEKBEESBAEREL -
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I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLFE

13. REWHE )

B MENATER  WENRS TR

13. Investment Properties (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and

122

best use of the property is their current use.

Office units in Hong Kong
2021: HK$270,000,000
2020: HK$270,000,000

IR E BN R TFE
—E-—F 2870008 & T
—E-TF 270008 B T

Car park spacing in Hong Kong
2021: HK$5,000,000
2020: HK$5,000,000

& BB E
T —F 50088
ZETH500BAT

Manufacturing plants in the PRC
2021: HK$233,758,000
2020: HK$218,545,000

fir R BB RE R 5
ZE T 2F3 37588 T T
“E-TF2F1,85485TE T

There were no transfers into or out of level 3 during the year.

The Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong were

Valuation technique(s)
RERD

Direct comparison

BEERE

Direct comparison

BEERE

Term and reversion
analysis of
investment approach

REBBRMER DT

THEREEMMAE -

Significant unobservable input(s)
EXTABRZBAZY

The weighted average market unit
rate, adjusted by the size, view and
floor level of property and timing
of comparable transactions, of
HK$22,881 per square foot (2020:
HK$22,881 per square foot)

MEFETHER  HEENES
REAMBEKTRATERZFHE
SRR HEAE o LR IET
mEENERRE T R22,881%
TL(ZZZFF : §FHR22,881%5

L)

The weighted average market unit
rate, adjusted by timing of the
comparable transaction and
accessibility of the car park
spacing, of HK$2,500,000 each
(2020: HK$2,500,000 each)

MEFHTHEE  BTLENRS
BREMEESEOELEE 5
HAB0EEL(ZS-_2F: 5
25088 7)

The weighted average monthly
market rent, adjusted by rental
in reversionary period and yield,
of RMB15.16 per square meter
(approximately HK$17.89 per
square meter) (2020: RMB15.06
per square meter (approximately
HK$16.42 per square meter))

MEGATHES - AEMHKFEL
EENSERE KA RERAE o
RBOMETHEATEEER
BYRKIBIBTARE (BFAK
AM789B T _Z_ZF - §F)
K16.06TTA R (B F/77%4)16.42
BIT))

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
TOBECHASHE
AFEZHE

A significant decrease in the
weighted average market unit
rate used would result in a
significant decrease in fair value,
and vice versa.

ERAMIZERNEE T &S50
RPENBETR  R2IHR -

A significant decrease in the
weighted average market unit
rate used would result in a
significant decrease in fair value,
and vice versa.

ERAmIEERNEE TSR
RPENBETR  R2IHA -

A significant decrease in the
weighted average monthly
market rent used would result
in a significant decrease in fair
value, and vice versa.

ERNEAMSHEENEE TR
ﬁﬁ@?ﬁ%@%?%'&Zﬁ

REANE=RILLIAEEALEL -

AEBEEBENREMECDHEER - KU

pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group at BRAAFEEHERBEERF23FETA
the end of both years in Note 23.

SEMRITRE o
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#

A}
For the year ended 31 March 2021  E T —F=—A=+—HLEE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. ¥ BERKXHE

Furniture,
Office Factory Plant and fixtures and Moulds Motor
buildings buildings  machinery  equipment and tools vehicles Total
BERE &K £E8
HERT IENE R k%% HARIA RE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET FHET FET FET
COST RAE
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-AFMA—A 1,019 212,490 298,333 81,783 18,603 10,045 622,273
Exchange adjustments SNERE - (2,939) (16,059) (3,335) (88) (615) (23,036)
Transfer to investment properties BREREMEN 213

(Note 13) - (135,164) - - - - (135,164)
Additions NE = = 2,902 6,930 1,894 — 11,726
Disposals/write-off HE /i = = (21,888) (8,750) ®) (1,795) (32,438)
At 31 March 2020 and RZE-_FF£=ZA=1+—H

1 April 2020 T 1,019 74,387 263,288 76,628 20,404 7,635 443,361
Exchange adjustments 1 EE B = 1,847 17,787 4,321 98 290 24,343
Additions RE = = 468 4,236 1,718 - 6,422
Disposals/write-off HE /MR = = (11,447) (1,347) (3,862) (1,154) (17,810)
At 31 March 2021 R=Z=-F=A=1+—H 1,019 76,234 270,096 83,838 18,358 6,771 456,316
DEPRECIATION nE
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-AFMA—-A 1,019 89,966 284,131 68,717 16,285 7,621 467,739
Exchange adjustments LIRS = (2,244) (15,200) 2,817 (80) (588) (20,929)
Transfer to investment properties BREREMENZ13)

(Note 13) - (32,079) - - - - (32,079)
Provided for the year AEERE = 2,691 5,195 5,416 1,594 938 15,884
Eliminated on disposals/write-off & /B B 45 8 = = (21,080) (8,628) () (1,578) (31,291)
At 31 March 2020 and

1 April 2020 1,019 58,334 253,046 62,688 17,794 6,443 399,324
Exchange adjustments HINEE 3 B = 1,134 17,082 3,582 92 269 22,159
Provided for the year AEERE = 2,213 4,118 5,253 1,666 562 13,812
Eliminated on disposals/write-off HE /M B K 35 = = (11,395) (1,347) (3,752) (1,154) (17,648)
At 31 March 2021 RZB-—F=RA=1+—H 1,019 61,681 262,851 70,176 15,800 6,120 417,647
CARRYING VALUES EHEE
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—-§=ZA=1+—H - 14,553 7,245 13,662 2,558 651 38,669
At 31 March 2020 R=Z2-Z2F=A=1+-A — 16,053 10,242 13,940 2,610 1,192 44,037
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2021

14. Property, Plant and Equipment

15.

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Office buildings and factory buildings

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Moulds and tools

Motor vehicles

Right-of-use Assets

CARRYING VALUES

At 1 April 2019

Transfer to investment properties (Note 13)
Depreciation charge

At 31 March 2020
Depreciation charge

At 31 March 2021

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZP-—F=A=t+-RLFE

14. W% BERKE=

EREBE SRR E
TOIFE B R H -

HEEEBFRIMYE 4% or over the lease term, if shorter

A% H AT EHR (R E)
TR B 5% 1 e i 25 15%
KR -RERRME 20-33'/,%
BEARTA 20-33",%
T 20%

15. FHAEEE

REE
R-ZF—HAEMA—H
EEREEREWMEN 213
TEER

R-ZZTE-_—F=A=+—H

Leasehold lands
HE LT
HK$'000

FET

19,949
(15,452)
(183)

4,314
(183)

4,131
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE

15. FHAEEE®

15. Right-of-use Assets (continued)

2021 2020

= g == qi — 7 — $

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET Fi&ET

Expense relating to short-term leases HEEENEWEER 3,782 3,633

Expense relating to leases of low-value REEBEEAEHREFENE

assets, excluding short-term leases of A TeREEEEEEN

low-value assets EEHEE 18 18

Total cash outflow for leases HeEmBEsRbEsn 3,800 3,651

For both years, the Group leases several industrial buildings RREFE ~A&EEEESEIXEF

for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
terms of 1 year to 912 years. Lease terms are negotiated on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies
the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

B HEAHNZETHR A1 FEI
9124 o TH & 1§ FAR & [ Bl 15 50 1k v 7
T EPBEEBTRZIGERRAGHE -
REBRE T HE R &G A 5
ZHIRE MAAHNZEELRTEAL
A] o8 Hl ITZ HARR o

The Group owns several industrial buildings where its AEBEBELETIHEEF FEREE
manufacturing plants and warehouses are primarily located. REBRERERE - ASERULEYERE
The Group is the registered owner of these property = (BIEEE Tﬂ Stih)cEMBERA
interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump BRAMEN —RESRAR B E Y %
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property R o

interests.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for office REBETEHARAE L EHHEE - BA

premises. As at 31 March 2021, the portfolio of short-term
leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which
the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$4,131,000 and HK$4,314,000 are
recognised, respectively. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the
leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may

not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

—E—FZA=+—H8 EHHEE
mALLFE%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%mﬁﬂﬁ
EHEEM -

HERFHELN
RZB-——FER-_ZE-_TF=F=+—
DRIHERE AEE EQN4381T %
TTRAIEATET - R ABFENAE
EEEMERERIN  HEBHZTHEN
R - HEEETSHIEEERZ

HHELR
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

16. Club Debentures

CARRYING VALUE

At 1 April 2019

Disposal

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020

Disposal

At 31 March 2021

The club debentures with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired. The directors of the Company are of

REMBHRESHE

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

16. BT E ¥

HK$'000
F&ET
BREE
R-ZZE—NFWNWA—H 13,176
He (2,158)
RZBE_EF=A=+—8BXK
—E-_FFMPA—H 11,018
vk = 675)
RZZTE-_—F=A=+—H 10,343

BERRNEMESREFEERER
LRERDRBTRESERE - ANAT
EXREBEZ2EMHEE RALERE

the opinion that no impairment indication was identified with PR o

reference to market value.

17. Inventories

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods

126

R %
E&m
B4 an

A
17. &
2021 2020
—E-—F —T-FF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FE T
32,623 20,733
10,991 12,208
50,244 23,366
93,858 56,307
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I
For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE_T-_—F=ZA=+—HILFE
. =+,
18. Trade and Other Receivables 18. EWWE ZERF Htt EEU
=+,
BR =X
2021 2020
—E-—F TR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade receivables — sales of goods BURESER — EmiEE 241,738 134,658
Less: Allowance for credit loss B oEEBEBE (1,141) (940)
240,597 133,718
Other receivables (Note) H th 8 U BR 3R (A 2F) 17,832 16,788
Total trade and other receivables FE U E 5 B8R 5% I HoAh e W AR
KB ER 258,429 150,506
Note: As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s other receivables mainly Kiix: RZBE_—F=A=+—8 ' ~5%5E
include value added tax recoverable of HK$10,794,000 (2020: A H fth FE U AR 3k = E B 51,0798 4
HK$7,802,000), which will be recovered within one year. FHIT(ZZZTF : 78082 F B T)
ZA M EIEERK AR —FR
I @] o
As at 1 April 2019, trade receivables from contracts with RZZE—HLEMA—HNE S EKER
customers amounted to HK$251,848,000. &K B2185,1848B8T B T °
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, NTREKNESEREFTNBEBNEE
presented based on the invoice dates: HAER ZRR DT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —ZEFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAEIT
0-90 days 0-90H 159,074 113,737
91-120 days 91-120H 28,638 18,515
121-180 days 121-180H 52,885 1,466
240,597 133,718
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

18.

19.

Trade and Other Receivables (continueq)

As at 31 March 2021,
receivables balance are debtors with aggregated carrying
amount of HK$4,416,000 (2020: HK$27,229,000) which are
past due at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$146,000 (2020: HK$9,000) has been past due 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default because there had

included in the Group’s trade

not been significant changes in credit quality of the relevant
debtors and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 27(b).

Financial Assets at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL:

Unit-linked funds BAEAENES
Debt instruments BEITA

Investment in unit-linked funds represent pool investments,
comprising equity and debts securities in various markets.

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZP-—F=A=t+-RLFE

18.

19.

FEUWNE 5 BR 7R H b FE UK
R &K@

R-BE-_—F=A=+—H K&E#E
WESERBERAMES £44186T %
T(ZEBEZTF 2 72289F B T)2ER
HIEWARR - L@ A& %P - 1486TF
75 7T (20204F : 9F & JT) E %8 90K sk
ERKEMHE HREBREBSANGERAESR
REEREB{CBEMWEAATRE - Fit
THEEBBEN - AKREVERZSFEH
BHEAERR -

Z 5K E A EWER KA R E T B
R Bt #E27(b) °
ZERBREAFEFEZ
ERMEE
TREERFMBEBEBRIEAFES

==

2021 2020

—EB-—F —TTHF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAET

14,451 11,815

6,595 11,463

21,046 23,278
WEREBNEHANES  BHREKEEHA

B BREFENSENBRERERES
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

20. Debt Instruments at Fair Value
Through Other Comprehensive
Income

21,

Investment in listed debt instruments with
fixed interest rate from 1.14% to 4.25%
(2020: 1.64% to 4.25%)

4.25%)

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 27(b).

Short-Term Deposits/Bank Balances
and Cash

(@)

(b)

Short-term deposits

Short-term deposits are deposits placed with banks or
financial institution for investment purpose. The short-
term deposits carry fixed interest rates with effective
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.74% (2020:
0.10% to 2.66%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which
range from 0% to 0.8% (2020: 0% to 1.3%) per
annum.

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZT--—F=A=t+-RLFE

EEF B A114% 2 4.25% A
ZrMEBTAKRSE
(ZE-FF :164%2

AFEEFAHMEZEW
NWEKIA

2021 2020

—EC-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

24,646 25,664

BB BT b FE B B M EE27(b) ©

21. BHER RITHREE

=z

(@)

(b)

BHER

SHITF R ETFRIBITN S mEE A
BEBN - REGERIREE BXUE
BRAEEAE - FER001%ZE274%
(ZZ =T F : 010% E2.66%) °

BITHEFNRE
RITHETFERMIGHNEERGTE  F
BH0%ZE0.8% (ZEZFF:0%
£1.3%) °

129



130

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %z &
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Bt 75 8 5 E MY &

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

==
22. Trade Payables 22. BHEBERM
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented BREZZEAHEVNN 2 ENESERZE
based on the invoice date. e AT ZZD—F-
2021 2020
—E-—F TR
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
0-90 days 0-90H 140,534 72,915
91-120 days 91-120H 4,704 16,719
Over 120 days HBi@120H 2,462 2,360
147,700 91,994
The credit period on purchase of goods is ranged from 30 HEEMERIBEWWAZIEZEEER
to 90 days.
/= 45 &
23. Secured Bank Loan 23. BIRHEITER
2021 2020
—EB-—F —E=F
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
The carrying amounts of secured bank loan BIEIMRITER - A[EE 2
is repayable (Note): SREEA )
Within one year —FR 5,124 5,124
Within a period of more than one year but ZH—4F @ BB
not exceeding two years A B A 5,124 5,124
Within a period of more than two years but ZR MW F - BT BB
not exceeding five years AEHEA 15,372 15,372
Within a period of more than five years AFMN EHRER 417 5,541
26,037 31,161
Less: Amounts due within one year shown M : JIBR A REEE 2
under current liabilities —FRNEREHE (5,124) (5,124)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FIBERIEREB B E 2 & 58 20,913 26,037
Note: The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates Kiet: EHERSHERENRERBEAMH
set out in the loan agreements. ZERAE -
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23.

24,

Secured Bank Loan (continveq)

The bank loan is variable-rate borrowing which carry interest
at 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)
plus 0.8% per annum (2020: 1-month HIBOR plus 0.8% per
annum). As at 31 March 2021, the effective interest rate on
the Group’s borrowing is 0.93% per annum (2020: 1.19% per
annum).

As at 31 March 2021, bank loan of approximately
HK$26,037,000 (2020: approximately HK$31,161,000) is
secured by the Group’s investment properties with a fair value
HK$275,000,000 (2020: HK$275,000,000) (Note 13).

Deferred Taxation

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred
tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZT--—F=A=t+-RLFE

23.

24,

RERBRITER®

RITERRIDFEZBE  FEEXER
BRBRITAZEFE(—EA)M0.8% (=F
—EF RBRITAERS(—MEA)M
0.8%) c R=—ZE-_—F=A=+—H &
EEEREEFNERR093% (ZE=F
F-EREEFMNER/II9%)

R-ZB-_—F=A=+—8 HFT7EXK
#92,6038B7THIT(ZE_ZTF : 31165
1B BEEREYMEURTER2E
75008 BT (CE-T4F : 2{87,5008 8
T EER (HF313)

i %iE Bi 1]
REFAMBRRE Y 2FIME - ETFE

ERBEEERABDHEE - ATRAR
MB2RENEERIBLER D

At 1 April 2019

Charge to profit or loss

Charge to other comprehensive
income

At 31 March 2020 and
1 April 2020

Charge to profit or loss

At 31 March 2021

RZFE-NFMA—H
R IE & BRHR
W E A 47 & W as F10R

Withholding
tax on
distributable
profit of Fair value
subsidiaries changes on
Accelerated tax operating investment
depreciation in the PRC properties Total
H I B 2 )
03 Bt oE A % B R REMEH
neE ZEMB DNFEEE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
(4,257) (2,996) - (7,253)
(294) (632) - (926)
- - (28,603) (28,603)
(4,551) (3,628) (28,6093) (36,782)
(260) (678) - (938)
(4,811) (4,306) (28,603) (37,720)
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24. Deferred Taxation (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$47,596,000 (2020: HK$59,034,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets has
been recognised in respect of these tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future project streams.

Included in unrecognised tax losses of HK$44,131,000 (2020:
HK$54,844,000) that will expire within five years. Other losses

may be carried forward indefinitely.

The unused tax losses will be expired as follows:

2020 TE-TF
2023 —E-=fF
2024 7?7@¢
2025 —T_AF

Under the EIT Law in the PRC and implementation regulations
issued by the State Council, withholding tax at 5% rate is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has been fully provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries.

e

Bt 75 8 5 E MY &

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

24, I 3E F 18 (#)

MAREMR  AEBBERBANTIE
184,759 86T T (ZT T4 : 5903
EATHE T TRAEERTRF) - F##
LAHE TE AR 2 4 B SRR - SR Bt 2 B T
BRAELEHEEE -

BIERERZHIEEE441381F B T
(ZE-TF 5484B4THE L) BN EE
M2 EY o H{th 518 AT e EE R HA 4%

RERWBABEBENEMOT

2021 2020

= g — qi — 7 — $

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

- 14,281

571 527

43,342 40,036

218 -

44,131 54,844

RIBEFHCERESTEN  RABEBE

BEMNERIGEHN ‘T NF—H—

A% AFBENB QR MEAFEm
TR Z IR B 0 LAB% By FE IO B B R UK o

BHTENBARREENOEREE
EfENEERBEERGEMBHRERA
j‘fﬂ%E{/\o
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25. Share Capital

I
HE_ZT—

REMBHRESHE

—F=A=+—BILFE

25. I

26.

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Authorised: JETE

At beginning and end of the year RE ) J F i B
Issued and fully paid: BEETRERE:

At beginning and end of the year RE) R F 451

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes secured bank loan disclosed in Note 23, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of

new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FREEI0E T 2T Bk

2021 & 2020 2021 & 2020
—E—FR —E—FR
—E-EHE —E_EHF
Number of
shares HK$'000
BROEZE FAET
600,000,000 60,000
335,432,520 33,543

26. EAE kg BB

AEEEREAN FEERASEER
AIRFERAERLE  WEBEBLLEBR
REVEARRRERZALE - AEH
CEBRBEEFUR—BEHEFTTE -

AEBEZEARBREERFE 28
ERRITER(R M E22RE) FRE
EBREFEMRARAEAAREES
ETERERITERA  HtHEERERE

R -

ARREFRFERIEARE - EF
EREARAREBENBEARARIES
B2 #n - REARRESNES -
AEBBEBIMRE - BT %
THESFKBERREEER  UWFEHEE
BEARRE -
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27. Financial Instruments

a.

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZP-—F=A=t+-RLFE

27. € T A

Categories of financial instruments a.

Financial assets EMEE

Financial assets at amortised cost REEK AT R 2
TRIEE

Financial assets at FVTPL BREBRIZEATEFEZ S
mEE

Debt instruments at FVTOCI BAFEFAEMER
WaErEETA

Financial liabilities cREHE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
TRIBE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include debt
instruments at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL,
trade receivables, other receivables, short-term
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade payables,
other payables and secured bank loan. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases and bank balance, which
exposes the Group to foreign currency risk.

REHK AR 2

£BMITAEF

2021 2020
—EZ—-F —TFF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
857,398 792,754
21,046 23,278
24,646 25,664
180,201 127,457

HERMEREEEREE

AEEZETESRITABRERA
FEAARME2ZERENEBLET
B ZEBERBRAFEAEZR
MEE  FBUESRX  HMEWK
R REER - RITEBRER
T EBNEZERRBEEMRRT
EXR - ZECRIAFBERNEM
ARE - 2FeRTAMEBRAR
BEmSRAREERR - MXE
a M EMERRR)  EERRRK
MEBE TR o T X &R
ZERBZEK - EEREEER
B 2 F R B DARE R R B R A R
HWERBUEE 2

e
HHE R
KRR B H B A R S B 7T
BERRITER  EEEAZ
BER -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

27. €Mt T B »)

27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

b. MBEABREZEEBRRRRK(E)

Market risk (Continued) HEE ()
Currency risk (Continued) B g (&)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities

REIERBRA - AEBAINEET
BZEBEEMERAEEZER

at the end of the reporting period are as follow: BT :
Liabilities Assets
=R BE
2021 2020 2021 2020
=B —ZT—-%F =B 2%
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
United States dollar (“‘USD”) % 7T 1,847 7,929 593,845 558,917
Renminbi (“RMB”) AREE - — 21,783 19,523
HK$ BT 30,729 — 485,332 487,001
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to exchange rate AEBXERZEZT BILTEA
fluctuations of USD, HK$ and RMB against the REEHSEEEEILEY - Al
functional currency of respective group entities, which B AR 2 B X B R B
is either HK$ or RMB. As the HK$ is pegged to USD, HRABTEE T - AAR B
the management of the Company are of the opinion [& R A A& H 3 JT B b AR 8 B
that the Group’s exposure to USD relative to HK$ is TTRIR - 8B BETIENE
minimal and accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity BRRE DT o

analysis on USD is presented.
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 3% (2020: 3%) increase and decrease in functional
currency of respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies. These percentages are
the rates used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 3% (2020: 3%) change
in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax loss or an increase
in post-tax profit where the functional currencies of
respective group entities weaken 3% against the
foreign currencies. A 3% (2020: 3%) strengthening of
the functional currencies of respective group entities
against the relevant currencies, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the profit.

Impact of HK$

e

Bt 75 8 5 E MY &

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

27. €t T B »)

MERBEEERRBEGE)

HEE ()

B g (E)

R DT (&)
TERHFINEAEASBEHN S EE
BRI EEELBBINEES
TRBI%NHEE(ZT_TF:
3%) c ZEBALAARNBEEE
B A BERINE R B AT A 2 SRR
K -WAEREHERTESE
ffffff BTG  WRESNERE
LN ETE 2 M &R B IR -
WRFRABRHLIRE3Y (ZF=F
F 1 3%) DA = B SN B 3R 7 4

T %I TF 80 3R TR0 A B 1% B A sk A
Bm A - RS EEEEIAE
HEOE AR INEE553% o fin &
CEEEREERE S BB
B ININEEEHRE% (T F
3%)  #E ¥R M EKEERER
-2 I

Impact of RMB

B ARB T E
2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--F ZZT-EFF ZEB--F ZE-TH
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FET FAET
Profit (loss) for the year RE 5N (FHE) 10,229 10,958 546 489

The above is mainly attributable to the exposure to
short-term deposits, outstanding receivables and
payables at the year end.

P EBREFEBKRAELH N
EHER . BUCRR R B RR
B R e
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27. €Mt T B »)

27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate short-term deposits, debt
instruments at FVTPL and debt instruments at FVTOCI.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate debt instruments at FVTPL,
secured bank loan (see Note 23 for details of the loan)
and bank balances.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate
secured bank loan at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the secured bank
loan outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis point (2020:
10 basis point) increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
Variable-rate debt instruments at FVTPL and bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
directors of the Company consider that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate
is insignificant. The management also considers the
exposure of the fair value interest rate risk of fixed-rate
short-term deposits, debt instruments at FVTPL and
FVTOCI is insignificant.

MERABEEERRREGE)

% m g (&)

T /2 B2
AEENTERAFNR  FRE
SR AFEAEZMBTARR
NP EFAEMEE RS EB
TEAX R FEMNERR -

AEBENEBBRIZAFES
RZEERTE - ﬁ%ﬁ#ﬁfﬁﬁfﬁm
(HLERFB R W E23) KR 174

FRINAEARIE R EF ER
B E DA

Tt &y UK E D AT IR R R IR E A
Xﬁ%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁ%%i?@)ﬂ
BANERBREE - 2 HRR

iﬁiﬁﬁﬂif)}ﬂﬂ,a@z%ﬁﬁﬁi 17
EXREFRAEEERMRE - @
MEE B EIE A B E R XA R
ARG RRI0EH (T T 5
10EH) TRKREEEBEH MR
EEEEFP G - BBEBER
NFEAENFIEEKRITARR
TTRBBBBRESRBE DM I -
RAAARREERRIPHERE
KB eREMNERARBR)D &
BETEZEIESEHER B
BESEAFEAFEZEBIA
KB A EFAEM R E RN
1i?f%lﬂ7¥<*“$fﬁ7’rurﬂﬁﬂ
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 10 basis point (2020: 10 basis
point) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended
31 March 2021 would increase/decrease by HK$22,000
(2020: post-tax loss decrease/increase by HK$26,000).
This is attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its secured bank loans.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
investments in unit-linked funds and other listed debt
instruments. The management considers these risks
are insignificant and therefore no sensitivity analysis
on such risks has been prepared. However, the
management will closely monitor such exposures and
consider hedging such exposures should the need
arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Trade receivables

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their
obligations as at 31 March 2021 in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risk associated with its financial assets.
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27. €Mt T B »)

27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
trade receivables and the Group has been largely
dependent on a small number of customers for a
substantial portion of its business. The top three
customers represent over 86% (2020: 70%) of the trade
receivables as at 31 March 2021. The failure of these
customers to make required payment could have a
substantial negative impact on the Group’s profits and
liquidity.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually.
In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the
Company make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The directors of the Company believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 March
2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables were insignificant and thus no loss
allowance was recognised.
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances and short-term deposits

The credit risk on bank balances and short term
deposits are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks in Hong Kong or financial institutions
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rate, the
12m ECL on bank balances and short-term deposits
are considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Debt instruments at FVTOC/

The Group only invests in debt securities with low credit
risk. The Group’s debt instruments at FVTOCI mainly
comprise listed bonds and notes that are graded in
the top investment grade as per globally understood
definitions and therefore are considered to be low
credit risk investment. The ECL on debt instruments at
FVTOCI is considered to be insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

Other than concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables set out above, bank balances and short-
term deposits which are deposited with several banks
or financial institutions with high credit ratings, the
Group does not have any other significant concentration
of credit risk.
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

AEE B R

Low risk

15 = fez

Normal risk

— R AR

Watch list

#;

4**}

A

Doubtful

Loss

B

Write-off

I 34

Description
i

Reputable counterparty with low probability of
default, long and stable business relationship and
well established repayment pattern

FERHNRFGHFRERMB TN EBBENT
EMNEFEN  BORXHRE

The counterparty sometimes repays after due dates
but settle in full

RHUFERSHIMARER Y2HEE

ME

The counterparty has lower default risk and usually
settle after due date

RHGEFHENRBRREYERE SN IHER
&

There have been significant increases in credit
risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources
BRABIIBEREREANERRRB IR
BmEEM

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

AEEBNEELRERRE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

BERBBRTEBARNBRENBRER
AEEER e BEBKRERIA

e

Bz_Z—

Bt 75 8 5 E MY &
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—F=A=+—BILFE

b. MBEABREZEEBRRRRK(E)

1= & /7 B2 R 6l 18 7T 14 (78)
AEBHAREERRSRFH
BIEATER

Trade receivables

FE W B 5 Bk X

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

FHEHREESR
— FEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
PHEHREERR
— FEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
HEHREEER
— FEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

EHBEBEEER
— FEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
FHEHREEER

— EERE

Amount is written off

i sH & 88

Other financial
assets

HtheMEE
12-month ECL
P2EAEHEE
B8
12-month ECL

REARBEE
B

12-month ECL

12EABEREE
ki

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

2HEREEER
— EERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

FHRHEEEE
— EERE

Amount is
written off

i sH & 88
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment:
External
Notes  credit rating
HBEE
Mz AR
Debt instruments at FVTOCI BRAVESFAH2ENE
MEKIA
Investment of listed debt instruments & EHEHIA 20 A
Financial assets at amortised cost REHHAFFIRZEHEE
Trade receivables B E 5 BN 18 N/A
TER
Other receivables H {th e Uk BR 3K 18 N/A
TERA
Short-term deposits ROER 21 Aa
Bank balances RITEH 21 Aa

Note: For not credit-impaired trade receivables, the Group
has applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to
measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL collectively with a grouping by
internal credit rating of respective receivables that are
not credit-impaired.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables with credit-
impaired individually and/or collectively, if any.

N
= — & —

<=

Internal
credit rating
A EE
R

N/A
TER

Note
i3

Low risk
[igEN
N/A
TER
N/A
TEA

REMBHRESHE

—F=A=+—HBILFE

27. €t T B »)

MERBEEERRBEGE)

1= B /7 B2 R 6l 1B 7T 14 (78)
REMEERENEERR T
RALAEERBEEREEER

GRCE
Gross Gross
12-month or carrying carrying
lifetime ECL amount amount
WA ESS
EHEERR BEREE BEHE
2021 2020
ZBZ-§ C—Z-ZF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
12-month ECL 24,646 25,664
REARREEER
Lifetime ECL (not 241,738 134,658
credit-impaired)
2HEACEER
(E=ERE)
12-month ECL 478 2,221
REAAESEEER
12-month ECL 95,561 237,423
REARREEER
12-month ECL 519,379 418,314
REARMEEER
857,156 792,616
i HRIFEERRBENEKER

AN 55 [ B P B R B % R 5 R
FORP (LI AR ER MR
BHMEREERAEGNERLX
B AEEYHFEEEREDN
FEU R R IB IR AR S AR R
A -

o AEBERIEEHEEE
BEAEEBM SRR E
ERREMNERESRE(INE)
EITRERE
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Note:

(Continued) it
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to its operation. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on a collective
basis as at 31 March 2020 and 2021 within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired).
The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade debtors.
2021
—E-—F
Gross
Average carrying
Internal credit rating A= AR loss rates amount
FHBERE IRTH & E
% HK$’000
FET
Grade 1: Low risk E—&:ERR 0.13 210,960
Grade 2: Normal risk F_HTEERR 2.79 30,773
Grade 3: Watch list FEZHBERE - -
Grade 4: Doubtful BV EE 32.66 5
241,738

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
expected default rates over the expected life of
the debtors with reference to published information
from credit agencies and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

REMBHRESHE

nvj\
B Z-_—F=ZRA=+—HIt&EE

27. €Mt T B »)

b. MBEABREZEEBRRRRK(E)

1= & /7 B2 R 6l 18 7T 14 (78)

(#)

ERAEEEERKBERMN—
By AEBHERFHETEA
KERERAEBERATR - TX
RETEBEREFERES
EEEBERCGEEERE)AEE
TECEERN_FE-—F=FH=
T—HERERERTHME
KRR EERBREBNESR -

TREHRTERBESEBAR
ERBHRERES -

2020

BT
Average Gross carrying
loss rates amount
B KRR BRE B (E
% HK$°000
F&ET
0.1 95,369
210 39,143
6.23 128
21.02 18
134,658

M BEAEIRBEEHATES
BRANEREZOERLZE(RF
ERBAMNESMEN XL
REEFBEKRALE AR
ERSNAEEESETRE -
ERESEHEER A A
BAREHEBEEEBANE

BAEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Note: (Continued)
During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2021,
the Group provided HK$940,000 and HK$1,141,000
impairment allowance for newly originated trade
receivables that are assessed collectively, respectively.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under

REMBHRESHE

B Z-_—F=ZRA=+—HIt&EE

27. €t T B »)
b. HERREEEERKES)

EERBERBEFGEE)

g (8
HE-_T-_TFR-T-—F=
A=+t—RALEE A&£EEH
AEBFEENERESRERIE
Ho4B B T R114B1IT A T H
WERE LD RETHRET
fl o

TRETEABENAERRE
WESEFNEHEREER

the simplified approach. BEE:
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
= HE A
FEEEE
(EEERE)
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE—AFEMA—R 1,313
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at R=ZF— "L F WA —HE#R

1 April 2019: TR T A :

— Impairment losses reversed — BEREEBSE (1,313)
New financial assets originated EENTocmEE 940
At 31 March 2020 R-ZZE-_EF=A=+—H 940
Changes due to financial instruments recognised as at M= —Z 40 A —HE # R

1 April 2020: BMIAZS:

— Impairment losses reversed — BEREEBE (940)
New financial assets originated ELENFTeREE 1,141
At 31 March 2021 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 1,141
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Note: (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are
mainly due to:

REMBHRESHE

BE-ZT--—F=A=t+-RLFE

27. €M I B
b. HERMEEAERKEE)

1= & /7 B2 R 6l 18 7T 14 (78)

#: (&)
EWESERFNEBREESE
FEZAHAR:

Increase (decrease) in lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired)
2HEHEEBREMOED)

(EEERE)
2021 2020
—EC-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FIET
New trade receivable with gross carrying #71& & I & 5 BE X
amount of HK$241,738,000 (2020: EHBEEEEA
HK$134,658,000) 218417388 F B T
(=== &
1183,465&8F B JT) 1,141 940
Reversal from settlement in full of trade #[E & Ik & 5 B8R 2 &
receivables with a gross carrying BEEBERMES
amount of HK$134,658,000 (2020: 1183,46588T & T
HK$251,848,000) (-2
21{85,184&8F % L) (940) (1,313)
Liquidity risk TEEZERE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group TERERSETRARE  AEE

monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest

rate at the end of the reporting period.

ERPERASRASFERNE
BERARMZKE  AAEELN
EGEERBESTRBERS R
ERBHNTE - EEEERRT
EEZERABR -

TRFANASEERTEEZRAE
ZHETAHEHE - thRTIREAR
SERAKEREESHMAEL
REARZATRERERER
et XBEMNERASEER
BE-NERERFTHHE iUt
mME AMBRESERBEHR

B 2 I3 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLFE
27. Financial Instruments (continueq) 27. €t T B )
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies b. HEEKREEEERBEKE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEBELREEE)
Liquidity tables HBE T
Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average Less than 3 months to 1t02 2t05 Over 5 undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months 1 year years years years cash flows 2021
—g=-f
miE =R ATREERE =A=1-AH
TYRE SRZER E-F -EEZF  CHERE ENE REAH ZREE
% HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
2021 “E--F
Financial liabilities at REHR AR
amortised cost ZERERE
Trade payables EREHER - 144,564 3,136 - - - 147,700 147,700
Other payables Hih B RN - 6,464 - - - - 6,464 6,464
Secured bank loan — BERBIER
variable rate - %8 0.93 1,341 4,003 5,296 15,604 M8 26,662 26,037
152,369 7,139 5,296 15,604 M8 180,826 180,201
Carrying
Weighted Total amount at
average Less than 3 months to 1t02 2105 Over 5 undiscounted 31 March
interest rate 3 months 1 year years years years cash flows 2020
i 22
i3 =fdA ARERE ZA=t+-B
FiH = HSR=EA E-F —FE2F ZEZRE RENE mELR ZEEE
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET FiET FET FET FiET FET
2020 i Sl 33
Financial liabilities at REHRRIE
amortised cost ZERERE
Trade payables EREHER - 83726 8,268 - - - 91,994 91,094
Other payables Ht R = 4,302 - - - - 4,302 4,302
Secured bank loan — BERBTER
variable rate - %8 191 1,465 4,396 5,577 16,143 5,603 33,184 31,161
89,493 12,664 5577 16,143 5,603 129,480 127,457
The amounts included above for variable interest rate WEEHZERNBRERAREE 2
bank loan are subject to change if changes in variable &t ﬂ IR AR - T A LR
interest rates differ from those estimates of interest TEFRZEZEEBEIAEZCHEBSE
rates determined at the end of the reporting period. g o
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

ch Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group

determines fair values of various financial assets.

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are
measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique used), as well as the level of
the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3)
based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements is observable.

Financial assets Fair value as at

tREE AFE
31 March 31 March
2021 2020

R-B--%& HN-ZT-%F
=B=+-8B =RA=t+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Unit-linked funds

BuggEAES
— classified as financial assets 14,451 11,815
at FVTPL
- PEREBBHEATE
FEEREE

Listed debt securities
LHEBES
— classified as debt instruments 24,646 25,664
measured at FVTOCI
- PEARRATEFALMEE
WHRNEBIA
— classified as financial assets 6,595 11,463
at FVTPL
- “*Ei%ﬁua/\ N
FEZERMEAE

REMBHRESHE

B Z-_—F=ZRA=+—HIt&EE

27. €Mt T B »)

c. BAVEHEZSMIA
WM ERAAEENTEESE
SBEEMAFEZER -

() FEEHNEHEERTHE
BRAFEREBELSEMEER

AFEHE

RERERR  AEELH
(ﬁ%ﬁﬁf%ﬂﬁi’&ﬂ?ﬁﬂr% o
TREHIOAEE
ﬁ@@$@ﬁ'\]ﬁﬂ(%%' =
FTREER) - WRIEAF
Bit 2@ ABERN BRI
B BAFEFESAD
BERBIREHEIL -

Fair value

hierarchy  Valuation techniques and key inputs

ATESR HEXNRBEAARE

Level 2 Redemption value quoted by the relevant
investment funds with reference to the
underlying assets of the funds

E_f EHESREMNBOEENREEENAREE

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active market

—& RERTEABREEE
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27. Financial Instruments (continueg)

©s Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are not measured at
fair value on a recurring basis
The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities, carried at amortised cost, are
determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models which is based on
discounted cash flows analysis using the relevant
prevailing market rates as input.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of the financial assets and
financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values.

28. Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) adopted on 8 August 2012 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives to directors of the Company
and eligible employees, the directors and employees of
the Company may, at the discretion of the directors of the
Company, be granted options (the “Options”) to subscribe for
shares in the Company (the “Shares”) at a price determined
by its directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a trading day; (i) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

B

REMBHRESHE

2T —F=RA=+—HItFEE

27. €t T B »)

c. BRAFEFEZEWMIAGHE)

(i) FEBIYFRFELZZMEE
BAFESEBHZHEER
EHEREZAFE
TREERSRAGBZAF
B REBHKATE - THIR
ERAEERERN  RFRR
EREDMABRI ISR 5

EBRE/SBRABUREHE -

ARREZRR  NEAH
T ¥R R IR 8 55 X A e R
TREENERABEZRE
BEREAERQFEBEE -

28. B IR REETE

BEBERARNRR=ZZ—=—FNAN\BRHZ
BhES(BRETEDEIEENS
RAARREEZRAEREERHER
ARREFAHEBERLERETART
ZEFREEBURBARBZEN - &
BERESET HBIGERTI=%F
RrREE ()\RORELOR D BRE
ER(ARRSZH) 2 E(ABZAH
BRAFERE)  ((BRORBERBEHE
HEREEENAERXS A ZFHRH
B (AR P B3R R P8 E R ) + I (iil)
BApEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE

28. BIRRERT &2

28. Share Option Scheme (continued)

Without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
and the number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted
to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time.

The Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years from
the date of its adoption. Options granted must be taken up
not later than 28 days after the date of grant. A consideration
of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant of an
option. An option is exercisable on the date when the offer
for the grant of options is made but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the options.

No options have been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption.

IREARRRIRRIE LA E - ITERE
BRI BRTZRNDABETEBAER
REINEABES#TRGN210% &
REM—FRHTRNDEBETENAL
TEEBARRNEABESETRN
Z1% ©

BREAESNEREIRSEEHEBER
AN E BRF0F - ER T2 BRE
WERE T8 RARIE - BB TE
BEXUERECRE EZHARATRE
FriTf R EEBREZHEHER
BRI N EENR L ERER
HAREFT104F

AR BB BN AR Y B TRER
1 o
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29. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising

B

From Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities

arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-

cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are

those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will

be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

At 1 April 2019

Financing cash flows

Dividend declared

Finance cost on secured
bank loan

At 31 March 2020 and
1 April 2020

Financing cash flows
Dividend declared

Finance cost on secured
bank loan

At 31 March 2021

150
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2T —F=RA=+—HItFEE

20. MERHEL 2EEBEHEK

TRFAVNAGEEEAREEHMELENE
EEE ERESAIFESEY - -BE
ABELANBEAZERERE LI R
KEERERAEEZEARERER
ROBRARERSMFRERIAE -

Interest Dividends
payable payable
included included
in other in other Secured
payable payable bank loan Total
FE A+ R 2 AR E
(BstAEM (BFFAHM BEA
EAER) EBEAERR BITER @Etr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
R-_ZE-NFMHA—H = = 36,285 36,285
BB IR SR (1,025) (16,772) (5,124) (22,921)
EEIRRE = 16,772 = 16,772
EERBITERZ
B 75 B AR 1,025 = = 1,025
R-B_FF
ZA=+—Hk
—E_TFWA—H = = 31,161 31,161
MERS M (870) (30,189) (5,124) (35,683)
EEIRKE — 30,189 — 30,189
EEARBTERZ
BA TS A AR 370 - - 370
RZE_—%
—A=+—H - - 26,037 26,037
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- AY .EIE
30. Related Party Disclosures 30. BEALTHE
Expense relating to short-term or low-value leases paid or AEBENNENNESHIEEHRES
payable by the Group to its related parties are as follows: BTEBEALTINT:
2021 2020
—EB-—F —T_FTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Immediate holding company BEEZRAR
Allan Investment Company Limited TR ERRAF 900 900
Fellow subsidiaries & 7 K & A 5
Income Village Limited HEAR AR 204 204
Fair Pacific Limited BEFR AR 984 984
Ardent Investment Limited HEREFR QA 1,573 1,545
Certain directors of the Company have controls in Allan HHRAREETREMIEERRAR -~ f#
Investment Company Limited, Income Village Limited, Fair SEARAR - BEARARIRIEREIEE
Pacific Limited and Ardent Investment Limited. BRARBESIHE -
The compensation of key management personnel consists of TEEBEABZHEBREWESHIZ
director’s remuneration as set out in Note 8. BEEME o
The remuneration of directors of the Company is ARARESBZME THIRERALTHRR -
recommended by the remuneration committee having MZBERER  BFMEESRIE
regard to the performance of individuals, market trends and & BRBEBRHBITRABEERE
conditions with a view to retain and motivate executives. BT e
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BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

31. Operating Leasing Arrangements 3. EEHE

32.

The Group as lessor

All of the properties held by the Group for rental purposes

FEBERHEA

%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ%%éﬁfﬂ}ﬂ ﬁE7¥<

have committed leases for the next 1 to 5 years (2020: 1 to FEAR—ZEZERFHH (T F:
3 years). Property rental income earned during the year was =%F)c FAMEHRSKA B, 0093%6?
B (ZEZZTF 88181 T8 1)

HK$10,096,000 (2020: HK$8,811,000).

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as

follows:

Within one year

In the second year
In the third year

In the fourth year
In the fifth year

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and
equipment contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements

EFNOEERKOBEENTKDT

2021 2020
—E_—F —E-EE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
—F R 20,976 10,280
— 14,368 8,471
FE=F 11,542 2,239
FYF 12,069 —
ERF 8,046 -
67,001 20,990
32. EAREIE
2021 2020
—EB=—-F —T-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAE T
ERFEEME BMEEXZ
2 BA A B I R RER
EUEREESANEE
2,427 974
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33. R K& A 5t 2

33. Retirement Benefits Schemes

The subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong participates in both
an ORSO Scheme and a MPF Scheme. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

The ORSO Scheme
employees of 5% of their salaries. The employers will

is funded by contributions from

contribute based on the monthly salaries of employees
according to the following schedule:

BREMBARS BMIEATERERE
AESFTEIRBRESE - ZFFTEE
ERAKBEESNFATEE BHEE
HERBEAMEGRZBLESRA -

2NrEEEZEE  BARKSA
B.25% ° BERBRIRIAT EBIKAE
BAREEBHRZHRE:

Rate of

contribution

Number of completed years of service 5E B AR 7% 5 A fit ®XE
Not more than 5 years DREAEF 5%
More than 5 years but not more than 10 years ZRAFERNZRTF 7.5%
More than 10 years LR+ F 10%

benefit of the
returns after

The employees are entitled to the full
subsidiaries’ contributions and accrued
participating in the ORSO Scheme for 10 years or more, or
at an increased scale of 30% to 90% after participating in
the ORSO Scheme from 3 to 9 years respectively. Where
an employee leaves the employment prior to becoming
fully entitled to the employer’'s contributions, the excess
contributions are forfeited and the employer may utilise the
forfeited contributions to reduce its future contributions. As
at 31 March 2020 and 2021, the Group had no material
unutilised forfeited contributions in the ORSO Scheme which

may be used to reduce the Group’s future contributions.

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 65
and with at least 59 days of service under the employment
in Hong Kong. The Group contributes at the lower of 5% of
relevant payroll costs monthly to the MPF Scheme, subject
to a maximum amount of HK$1,500 per month for each
employee, which contribution is matched by employees.

SMABEEHERTEZEE T2 E
ZEWB AR AESH 2 HRE K HE
HHE  BEL2NFEHAEIEIF EEH
ZH30%ENEEZHENEE - MIEE
RARBE B2 20 E EHRATEEE - A%
gt R AE TR UK - TR £ RTE A AR UK
ZEFMBABEN 2HR - RZTZ
TER-F-_—F=ZA=+—H0 K&
B2 B B AU A SRl (E 008 B 12 FE AT
HEFER -

BB BT E18E65R X ERE
RO ZEEZN - AEEFAY
RBE R 8 2 X E5% @ ITE KA
H - MEBLEIEZAKS A E1,500%8
JL R EE THREEMER -
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33. Retirement Benefits Schemes (continuea)

The employees of the subsidiaries operating in the PRC are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated
by the local municipal government. The contributions for the
scheme in the PRC are made based on a percentage of
the average salary as advised by the relevant authority in
the PRC. The contributions are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme. The subsidiaries operating in
the PRC also contributed to a local municipal government
retirement scheme for all qualified employees in the PRC.
The employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at the rates specified in the rules.

The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
schemes in the PRC is to make the retired contributions under
the schemes. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years.

B

REMBHRESHE

2T —F=RA=+—HItFEE

33. RIRE R FT &l )

FEMBARZEEFTEZNE MK
REEZPRERBHEE - RFPBEZ
KRB IRETFEABEREERAER
ZFETERNLFERN - fHEHE
FEBRakEMEEKRERAME R
BEHRRRAREF B G0 - IR RE
i o BB A F R R BUR R KR
M8l BERERBRET - BER
B B BRI E R HI et R |k at 8l

=+
o

It AR EBE R B A M —FEAE ZRIK
R o R B IR 2 M SR AT 1 IR 1K 7% 2 e
IR -
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4. MBARFHE

R -——Ep-—T-—THE=-F=+—
B ARalzHBAR  2HAEARRD
RIZE2EBMEBAR  HBEWT:

34. Particulars of Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March
2021 and 2020, all of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation or Issued and fully paid share
establishment operations capital or registered capital

Principal activities

o) TR EMBMYL EEYE CROTRBERAJIMER FEEEK
Allan Electric Mfg., Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares and 50,000  Investment holding
TREXHEFRLA BB non-voting deferred shares REZK

Allan International Limited*

Allan Mould Manufacturing Limited

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
RERAHE/EE

Hong Kong/the PRC

100/ & 3 A% %50,0008% &% Z
BEER R

55,000 ordinary shares of HK$1
each

55,000 SR EE1E T2 LR

100 ordinary shares

Investment holding
REER

Manufacturing of plastic

ThRIBEHEERAF B&/HE 1008% & i@ AR injection moulds
EEBBIEER
Allan Plastic Mfg., Limited Hong Kong 3,005 ordinary shares Property holding and trading
THREBBEBERAR BB 3,0050% & i@ ik of household electrical
appliances
RENERHERESS
Allan Trading (HK) Company Limited Hong Kong 270,000 ordinary shares Investment holding
TRESEB)ERAA BH 270,000/ & & iz REZK
ThRIZNZEMNERAR The PRC* Registered capital of Manufacturing of household
s USD49,600,000 electrical appliances and
& A&49,600,000% T plastic parts
FEREERREBEH
HETIX(ER)ERAR The PRC* Registered capital of Manufacturing of household
H HK$75,000,000 electrical appliances and
it & A&75,000,000% 7T plastic parts
FEREERREBEH
BNmEEESERAA Note a) The PRC? Registered capital of Trading of household electrical
BEMNTEEERBERAR (M Fa) hE RMB15,000,000 appliances
T & AR A R #15,000,0007 HEXEES
Artreal Manufactory Limited Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Trading of household electrical
HETEBR AR &8 2R EBIR appliances
HEXEES
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Name of subsidiary

WELAREMR

Conan Electric Manufacturing Limited

FREXREARAA

Electrical Investments Limited (Note ¢)
Electrical Investments Limited (47iZc)

Ever Sources Investment Limited

SRREARRA]

Global Express (HK) Limited (Note b)

% (&%) BR R A (# i)

Good Eagle Investment Limited
EEREERRA

Great Yield Limited
RIGAERAH

EETRHREMERRT

Karan Electric Manufacturing Limited

FREXBEARAT

New Prestige Investments Limited*

Ngai Shing (Far East) Plastic &
Metalwares Factory Limited

B (2R 2B HARA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

34. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continueq)

REMBHRESHE

BE_ZT_—F=—A=+t—HILFE

4. B RARAFHE @

Place of incorporation or Issued and fully paid share
establishment operations capital or registered capital

SRMAMEL EELH

Hong Kong
B

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
KERUEHE /B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B
Hong Kong
B

The PRC
P E

The PRC
P E

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
B

ERTRAZRARZMESR

2 ordinary shares
2R EER

1 ordinary share of USD1
1REEIET AR

100 ordinary shares
100MR & i& iR

2 ordinary shares
2R EER

1 ordinary share
1R & R

1 ordinary share
1 %8 R

Registered capital of
HK$100,000,000
7 i & 100,000,000 7T

Registered capital of
USD3,500,000
1t & 73,500,000% 7T

100 ordinary shares
100fR & i& iR

1 ordinary share
1 %8 R

100 ordinary shares and 54,000

non-voting deferred shares

1008% & 38 ik K254,000/% £ #% =

BETRD

Principal activities

FREHR

Trading of household electrical
appliances
HEXEES

Inactive

TEXE

Inactive

TEXE

Inactive

TEXE

Investment holding

REEK

Trading of household electrical
appliances
HEXEES

Manufacturing of household
electrical appliances and
plastic parts

EEREEHRR
BRTH

Manufacturing and trading
of household electrical
appliances and plastic parts
EERHEREEER
BRTH

Trading of household electrical
appliances
HEXEES

Property investment

BHEME

Property holding
RENE
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For the year ended 31 March 2021 HE-_T-_—F=-A=+—HLEFE
34. Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 34. B AR FH 1B @
Place of incorporation or Issued and fully paid share
Name of subsidiary establishment operations capital or registered capital Principal activities
WEARERE AMARY EEHYE ERTRAZREAIIMES FTER
Progress Associates Limited* British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of USD1 Investment in securities
Hong Kong IREEIET 2 ERBR BHEE
EBRUES /B
Total Profits Limited British Virgin Islands/ 2 ordinary shares of USD1 each Investment holding
Hong Kong SREEIZRTZEAR REZR
EBRUHES /B
Warran Electric Manufacturing Limited ~ Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares Inactive
EREXNEERAA BE 100 & i EEEG
Well Sincere Investment Limited* Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares Investment holding
BHREBRRA" BE 2R EER REER
* Direct subsidiaries * BEENBRAR
# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises established in the PRC e 2EINEBEBEDLE
Notes: B2
(@  The subsidiary was established on 25 November 2019. @ HTARAR—FT-NF+—-HA=tFHH
B3I °
()  The subsidiary was deregistered on 16 August 2019. () BFARNR_ZE-—AFNATARBE
SHEEM -
(©  The subsidiary was deregistered on 1 November 2020. © ZTRrAR-_F_FTF+-—A—BF
SHEEM -
3 T = 2 i
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at RER - WBRRABRETEMEEE
% o

the end of the year.
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35. KRN BB MRRREHE

35. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company

158

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IRBEE
Property and equipment ES R 5,236 7,087
Interests in subsidiaries B B8 A &) #E 2 75,319 76,518
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE W B B A B 3R IE 130,934 131,214
Deferred tax asset EETIAE E 221 —
Club debenture g &S 10,030 10,705
221,740 225 524
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Other receivables H {th & I BR 3k 1,245 2,003
Amounts due from subsidiaries R ENGIE /@] 324 2160
Tax recoverable &R T 18 145 —
Short-term deposits SRR 18,763 189,282
Bank balances and cash WITHEHRER S 253,072 65,700
273,549 259,145
CURRENT LIABILITIES b5 =K
Other payables and accruals H b e~ BR 3k & B S R AN 10,462 9,820
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN EENGIE - 1,155
Tax liabilities HIEAE - 357
10,462 11,332
NET CURRENT ASSETS BRBEE 263,087 247,813
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BWEERRBER
LIABILITIES 484,827 473,337
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERBEE
Deferred tax liability BRERIBEE - 10
NET ASSETS EEFE 484,827 473,327
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital f& 7 33,543 33,543
Reserves & E 451,284 439,784
484,827 473,327
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35. Statement of Financial Position and

REMBHRESHE

—F=A=+—BILFE

Bz_Z—

35. K BB MRRREHE

Reserves of the Company continued) (#)
Movement in the Company’s reserves AFIEEES
Capital Capital
Share redemption contributed Retained
premium reserve surplus profits Total
B 7% B A
B 1205 8 Bl B it 45 BARG HREEF ko]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 R=ZF—NFMA—H 109,884 793 28,230 234,946 373,853
Profit and total comprehensive income A EEF| & 2
for the year Wz 425 = = = 82,703 82,703
Dividends recognised as distribution BRIED K ZKRE = = = (16,772) (16,772)
At 31 March 2020 RZE_ZTF
=A=+—H 109,884 793 28,230 300,877 439,784
Profit and total comprehensive income A4 F & 2
for the year W% a5 = = = 41,689 41,689
Dividends recognised as distribution BRIEDKR 2’ E = = = (30,189) (30,189)
At 31 March 2021 i a3
=A=+—H 109,884 793 28,230 312,377 451,284
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The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities of
the Group for the five years ended 31 March 2021.

TREFETAEEHE_ZE_—F=RA=+—
BERAEFENESE BEERBE-

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+t—HLEFE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EB-—-F —Z2-%FF —T-hF T )\F —FT—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
Revenue 4 909,466 982,835 1,209,200 1,305,166 1,325,082
Profit (loss) before tax & i i i F (&5 18) 54,541 (12,787) 33,852 55,453 84,225
Taxation 1A (8,139) (5,377) (5,733) (8,673) (11,278)
Profit (loss) for the year N4 JE i F (&5 18) 46,402 (18,164) 28,119 46,780 72,947
At 31 March
R=BA=+—8H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—E-—-F —T-FTF —FT-NF ZT-)N\F —T—+tF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FE T
Total assets 1,583,924 1,474,772 1,496,758 1,587,421 1,608,184
Total liabilities 378,930 308,413 362,888 449,407 489,993
1,204,994 1,166,359 1,133,870 1,138,014 1,118,191







	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	財務摘要
	致股東函件
	董事及高級管理人員
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報告書附註
	財務概要
	封底



